

# **Durham E-Theses**

# Population densities of mesocarnivores across protected and non-protected private landscapes in the Eastern Cape of South Africa

### COULTON, VICTORIA, CHARLOTTE

#### How to cite:

COULTON, VICTORIA, CHARLOTTE (2024) Population densities of mesocarnivores across protected and non-protected private landscapes in the Eastern Cape of South Africa, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/15568/

#### Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$ 

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way
- The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

# Population densities of mesocarnivores across protected and non-protected private landscapes in the Eastern Cape of South Africa

Victoria Charlotte Coulton

MRes Biological Anthropology Department of Anthropology Durham University

2023

Supervised by Professor Russell Hill and Professor Philip Stevens

#### Victoria Coulton

Population densities of mesocarnivores across protected and non-protected private landscapes in the Eastern Cape of South Africa

## Abstract

Protected areas can be an effective tool for carnivore conservation, but increasing human populations are intensifying pressures and increasing negative interactions with wildlife. The conservation potential of private landscapes is being increasingly recognised to provide vital habitat and connectivity for wildlife. Due to their ecological and ethological plasticity, mesocarnivores thrive on a wide range of landscapes, but are frequently subject to intensive persecution outside of protected areas. Development of reliable and accurate monitoring methods is therefore vital to enable evidence-based decisions for achieving sustainable population management. Novel techniques have been developed to estimate population densities of unmarked species using camera trapping, but many of these methods require field validation. Using one such method, distance sampling with camera traps (CTDS), population densities of mesocarnivores were estimated across two adjacent properties in the Eastern Cape of South Africa: a mixed used agricultural area, and a 'Big Five' private game reserve. Evidence of a high density brown hyaena (Parahyaena brunnea) population was recorded within the protected site, whereas insufficient captures were obtained on the mixed-use agricultural area. Conversely, lower densities of black-backed jackal (Canis mesomelas) were found in the reserve than the agricultural landscape, indicating variable effects of land use on mesocarnivore density. However, high imprecision in density estimates was evident, primarily attributed to spatial heterogeneity in encounter rates. This study reinforces the importance of evaluating camera trap performance metrics for more accurate measures of sampling effort and suggests how a site-specific approach can increase the efficacy of CTDS for population monitoring when camera performance is extremely variable. Improving precision in estimates is vital to validate CTDS as a reliable monitoring practice, and future studies should aim to test ways in which survey design and sampling effort can affect confidence intervals, as well as evaluating performance against known population sizes or established density estimation techniques.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Table of Contents	2
List of Tables	3
List of Figures	3
Statement of Copyright	4
Statement of Ethics	4
Acknowledgements	4
1. Introduction	5
1.1. Carnivore Conservation on Private Landscapes	5
1.2. Factors Affecting Mesocarnivore Densities	8
1.2.1. Resource Availability	8
1.2.2. Interspecific Interactions	9
1.2.3. Anthropogenic Disturbance1	0
1.3. Density Estimation Methods 1	2
1.4. Rationale and Research Questions1	5
Key Aims and Objectives1	6
2. Methods1	6
2.1. Note on fieldwork1	6
2.2. Study Area1	7
2.2.1. Historical and Current land use1	7
2.2.2. Climate	8
2.2.3. Vegetation1	9
2.2.4. Wildlife	21
2.3. Fieldwork	22
2.4. Data Analysis2	24
2.4.1. Camera Trap Distance Sampling2	24
2.4.2. Effort Calculations	25
2.4.3. Activity	26
2.4.4. Effective Detection Angles2	27
2.4.5. Density Estimation2	27
3. Results2	29
3.1. Camera Trap Survey Results2	29
3.2. Activity2	29
3.3. Effective Detection Angles	30
3.4. Camera Performance	31

3.4.1. Photographic Burst Times
3.4.2. Trigger Intervals
3.5. Density Estimates
4. Discussion
4.1. Validity and Precision of results
4.1.1. Snapshot Approaches
4.1.2. Density Estimates
4.1.3. Land Use Comparison40
4.2. Methodological Considerations41
4.2.1. Site-Specific Snapshot Intervals
4.2.2. Encounter Rate Variability
4.2.3. CTDS for Multi-Species Surveying44
5. Conclusion
References
Appendix S1. Mammalian Captures by Study Site71
Appendix S2. Variable Settings and Effective <i>t</i> at Camera Stations
Appendix S3. Encounter Rates of Sampling Locations74
Appendix S4. Activity Overlap75
Appendix S5. Detection Probability and Probability Density Functions
Appendix S6. Density estimates derived from site-specific versus setting-mean snapshot
intervals (effective t)

# List of Tables

Table 1. Survey capture data	29
Table 2. Availability for detection data	30
Table 3. Effective detection angles.	31
Table 4. Camera trigger Intervals	33
Table 5. Model parameters for density estimation	34
Table 6. CTDS density estimates.	34
Table 7.1. Brown hyaena densities	38
Table 7.2. Black-backed jackal densities	39

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Study area	19
Figure 2. Natural vegetation units within the study area.	20
Figure 3. Reference videos recorded to estimate radial distances	24

Figure 4.	Activity schedules	30
Figure 5.	Mean burst times of camera trap units	32

## Statement of Copyright

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

# Statement of Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from Durham University prior to the commencement of fieldwork.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the wonderful people who helped with fieldwork, without whom this project would have been impossible. Matthew Stokes for providing introductions and facilitating the intital start of the project. Craig Rippon for allowing me to deploy camera traps on his land, providing accomodation and advice, and tolerating me kidnapping his dogs regulary. John O'Brien and all the conservation team and field guides of Shamwari Private Game Reserve for all their help in arranging access and fieldwork assistance. Special mention to Cindy Sadler and Roy van Gompel for their help and guidance when deploying camera traps on Shamwari, and to Chris Wood for being a invaluable assistant and wonderful friend in the field. I would also like to thank my supervisors, Russ and Phil, for their advice and guidance throughout this project, and Jamie McKaughan for technical advice and support when needed. Finally, I would like to thank my partner Daniel for his endless patience and for politely humoring me when when he doesn't know what I'm talking about.

## 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Carnivore Conservation on Private Landscapes

Habitat loss driven by anthropogenic transformation represents a significant threat to biodiversity, with ecosystems increasingly at risk from habitat degradation and fragmentation (Pereira et al., 2010). Carnivore populations are particularly vulnerable to land use change (Schipper et al., 2008; Do Linh San et al., 2013; Júnior et al., 2022), and reduced area and quality of suitable habitat is driving range contractions and population declines (Di Minin et al., 2016; Wolf and Ripple, 2017). Globally, 54.3% of carnivore species' current range is comprised of high-quality habitat, of which only 5.2% is formally protected (Crooks et al., 2011). South Africa retains a diverse carnivore guild, but habitat loss, declines in prey abundances and persecution have resulted in widespread local extirpation of many species (*DEAT*, 2005).

Protected areas can be an effective tool for conservation (Brooks et al., 2006; Le Saout et al., 2013), providing 'refuges' for wildlife and often supporting higher overall biodiversity than adjacent non-protected landscapes (Wasiolka and Blaum, 2011; Lagesse and Thondhlana, 2016). However, the effectiveness of protected areas to conserve biodiversity in a rapidly changing world has been challenged (Rodrigues et al., 2004; Mora and Sale, 2011; Mascia et al., 2014). The current global protected area network is largely confined to areas unsuitable for human development (Joppa and Pfaff, 2010), and does not adequately reflect global biodiversity distributions (Brooks et al., 2004; Hoveka et al., 2020), or provide sufficient protection for terrestrial vertebrates (Rodrigues et al., 2004; Williams et al., 2022). Furthermore, the conservation potential of protected areas is increasingly undermined by the impacts of climate change (Hannah, 2008; Elsen et al., 2020), invasive species (Spear et al., 2013; Gallardo et al., 2017), landscape fragmentation (Newmark, 2008), and human encroachment around reserve boundaries (Woodroffe and Ginsberg, 1998; Bailey et al., 2016). In South Africa, formally protected areas make up 6% of land (DSSA, 2021), but increasing human populations and demand for space and resources is intensifying pressures and heightening negative interactions with wildlife (Bell et al., 2004; Di Minin et al., 2016; Willcox, 2020). Furthermore, as many species ranges extend beyond the coverage of the formal protected area network, private landscapes are being increasingly recognised for their conservation potential (Bond et al., 2004; Cousins et al., 2008; DEA, 2013; Clements et al., 2016, 2019; Pereira et al., 2020; Curveira-Santos et al., 2021a).

Private and working landscapes, including private conservation areas, commercial game breeding or hunting properties, and agricultural land make up 79% of land area within South Africa (*DRDLR*, 2013), and can provide valuable habitat and landscape connectivity for wildlife

(Kent and Hill, 2013; Ferreira et al., 2018). However, outside of formal protected areas, wildlife is often at heightened risk of anthropogenic mortality due to greater prevalence of pollution (Ramesh and Downs, 2015; Serieys et al., 2019), disease transmission from livestock or domestic animals (Hughes and Macdonald, 2013; Williams et al., 2019), road traffic collisions or intentional eradication regimes (Do Linh San et al., 2013). The diversity of land management approaches across South Africa are reflected in the highly variable levels of tolerance towards wildlife, leading to a patchwork of ecological coherence on private land across South Africa, with carnivore control often the primary focus of management regimes.

Lethal and non-lethal predator control methods are widely implemented on private landscapes to minimise economic losses. The extent of their implementation is generally dependant on the type and diversity of economic enterprises on the property, the tolerance of land managers, and even the landscape composition of the property (Thorn et al., 2013; Minnie et al. 2018a). Farms that raise small stock animals, or commercial game breeding properties with high densities of ungulates are more likely to implement lethal predator controls to reduce risk of stock depredation than properties that stock larger animals (Brink et al., 2021). On the other hand, commercial hunting properties may tolerate or even encourage predators if there is an economic benefit to their presence, such as trophy hunting or the control of other undesirable species (Lindsey et al., 2009; Treves, 2009; Crookes, 2023). Land managed for conservation tourism may promote or even reintroduce carnivores to attract wildlife viewing tourism or to preserve ecological processes (Linsey et al., 2009), but management of predators within small private reserves presents complexities, as populations must be monitored and managed to preserve ecological integrity, as well as optimising wildlife viewing experiences.

Private conservation areas, including nature and game reserves, generally aim to maintain diverse and abundant wildlife populations to attract tourism, but it is argued that many reserves may be too small to effectively conserve wide ranging species (Creel et al., 2013; Miller and Funston, 2014), and ecological integrity may be undermined by economic priorities (Lindsey et al., 2007; Maciejewski and Kerley, 2014; Clements et al., 2016). The prevalence of small (< 500 km<sup>2</sup>), private game reserves is increasing across South Africa, and these areas now form a vital component of South Africa's area-based conservation targets (Bond et al., 2004; De Vos et al., 2019). In the Eastern Cape, many small private game reserves have been established by aggregating small farms into more economically viable conservation and ecotourism ventures (Langholz and Kerley, 2006; O'Brien, 2012). These reserves have been restored severely overgrazed landscapes, and reintroduced extirpated wildlife to re-establish ecological processes and attract tourism (Hayward et al., 2007a; Newmark, 2008; Hayward and Kerley, 2009; Ferguson and Hanks, 2012). However, managing wildlife populations on relatively small, fenced reserves can present challenges, particularly for large predators that

often require intensive management to avoid populations exceeding that which the reserve and available prey populations can support (Tambling and Du Toit, 2005; Hayward et al., 2007c; Kettles and Slotow, 2009; Miller and Funston, 2014; Clements et al., 2016). In the absence of effective management, rapidly expanding carnivore populations can decimate prey populations, as well as increasing the risk of mortalities from lethal encounters with conspecifics or other predators (Jiménez et al., 2019). Predator translocations from game reserves and conservancies are therefore commonly implemented to mimic natural migratory processes (Hayward et al. 2007a), but smaller bodied carnivores are rarely monitored as intensively. As small private reserves often share boundaries with working landscapes, carnivores breaching reserve borders can result in negative human-carnivore interactions within surrounding communities (Treves et al., 2003; Kesch et al., 2013; Banasiak et al., 2021a).

Outside of protected landscapes, large carnivores have been largely extirpated (Nowell and Jackson, 1996; Skead, 2007), and a resultant proliferation of some mesocarnivore species has occurred in the absence of their dominant competitors (Thorn et al., 2011; Taylor, 2015; Ramesh et al., 2017). Mesocarnivores, defined as any species occupying an intermediate trophic position in a food web, irrespective of size or taxonomy (Prugh et al., 2009), can thrive when larger predators are absent (Kamler et al., 2020c). Additionally, ecological plasticity of many species enable them to readily adapt and exploit novel resources on a range of anthropogenic landscapes (Kamler et al., 2012a; Ramesh et al., 2017; Minnie et al., 2018a). Land management practices outside of protected areas can also facilitate mesocarnivore population growth through increasing prey abundances (Byrom et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2019). As a result, rapidly expanding mesocarnivore populations can cause detrimental environmental and economic impacts on working landscapes (Prugh et al., 2009), with blackbacked jackal (Canis mesomelas) and caracal (Caracal caracal) most commonly implicated in livestock depredation, and consequently subjected to retaliatory or preventative persecution (Purvis et al., 2000; Woodroffe, 2000; Schuette et al., 2013; Pitman et al., 2017; Crookes, 2023).

South Africa has a highly diverse range of approaches towards wildlife management, and particularly mesocarnivore management. The mosaic of land-use types allows researchers to understand the complexities of ecological dynamics across a variety of systems, ranging from formal protected areas and private reserves with relatively intact wildlife assemblages, to hunting properties, commercial game ranches or livestock farms that often employ more invasive and intensive wildlife management. Resilience and adaptability of some mesocarnivore species can present significant challenges on both protected and non-protected landscapes, as individual and population level responses to management

approaches are highly unpredictable and inconsistent across different land uses (Kamler et al., 2012a; Ramesh et al., 2017; Minnie et al., 2018a).- Further research is needed into the population and spatial ecology of many species within this diverse group, as well as evaluation of the effectiveness of various predator management strategies. However, these goals are contingent on the development of accurate and reliable monitoring techniques (Kerley et al., 2017), which are vital to achieve sustainable population management while protecting livelihoods of coexisting communities (Van Eeden et al., 2018).

#### 1.2. Factors Affecting Mesocarnivore Densities

Little is known about the spatial ecology of many mesocarnivore species across southern Africa (Easter et al., 2020; Wallin, 2022; Davis et al., 2023). Resource availability, interspecific interactions and anthropogenic disturbance are thought to be highly influential in determining carnivore densities on both protected and non-protected landscapes (Baker and Leberg, 2018), but the impacts are highly variable between species and environmental contexts (Sévêque et al., 2020). Understanding the complexities of environmental drivers of occurrence and the considerable interactions between these factors is essential for effective management and conservation.

#### 1.2.1. Resource Availability

It is widely recognised that densities of carnivores are strongly related to available resources (Fuller and Kittredge, 1996; Carbone and Gittleman, 2002; Karanth et al., 2004). This is clearly demonstrated in black-backed jackal populations living near seal colonies in Namibia, where extremely high population densities and relaxation of territorial behaviour are observed in areas of abundant foraging resources (Hiscocks and Perrin, 1988; Nel et al., 2013). Similarly, higher densities of scavenging species are found in areas with greater carrion provisioning by large predators, and localised population abundance can increase in response to seasonal peaks in herbivore mortality (Forbes, 2011; Yarnell et al., 2013; Pereira et al., 2014; Fourie et al., 2015; Bashant et al., 2020). Outside of protected areas, abundance of livestock, ungulate calves (Klare et al., 2010; Drouilly et al., 2018), or small mammals (Byrom et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2019) can drive high densities of mesocarnivores on agricultural, livestock or game farming landscapes. Without sufficient prey available on anthropogenic landscapes, mesocarnivores are inhibited from colonising novel areas, despite reduced competitive pressures (Goodheart et al., 2021). For example, intensive livestock grazing can degrade vegetation, detrimentally impacting small mammal populations (Carbone and Gittleman, 2002; Blaum et al., 2007a) and adversely affecting their predators (Blaum et al., 2007b). On the other hand, intensive livestock grazing in some areas can facilitate optimal conditions for termite

proliferation, which form an integral part of bat-eared fox (*Otocyon megalotis*) and aardwolf (*Proteles cristatus*) diets (Cooper and Skinner, 1979; Dalerum et al., 2016). Although density is strongly influenced by resource availability, the breadth and diversity of ecological niches occupied by mesocarnivore species results in inconsistent effects of changes to foraging resources community structure. Additionally, dietary plasticity of generalist mesocarnivores means they can easily adapt to changes in prey abundance (Minnie et al., 2018a), with cascading impacts on both intraguild community structure and biodiversity at lower trophic levels.

#### 1.2.2. Interspecific Interactions

Interspecific interactions can significantly influence mesocarnivore densities, both through exploitation competition for space and resources, and interference competition by dominant predators (Creel and Creel, 1996; Creel, 2001; Caro and Stoner, 2003; Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Swanson et al., 2014; Satgé et al., 2017). With the exception of leopard (Panthera pardus), apex predator populations in South Africa are largely confined to protected landscapes, where their presence significantly influences distribution, behaviour and community composition of the entire carnivora guild (Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Newsome et al., 2017; Codron et al., 2018; Curveira-Santos et al., 2021b). Smaller bodied carnivores are vulnerable to mortality from direct lethal interactions with competitively superior predators (Prugh and Sivy, 2020; Curveira-Santos et al., 2022), as well as indirect impacts, such as kleptoparasitism, negatively affecting fitness (Caro and Stoner, 2003), although variable impacts are observed between species (Begg et al., 2013; Allen et al., 2018). As a result, mesocarnivore distributions within protected areas often reflect spatial avoidance of dominant carnivores by subordinate species, with mesocarnivores more heavily utilising areas of high anthropogenic disturbance that are generally avoided by larger carnivores (Balme et al., 2010; Taylor, 2015; Newsome et al., 2017; Tambling et al., 2018; Curveira-Santos et al., 2021b). As a result of these competitive pressures, mesocarnivores can occur at lower population densities within protected areas than comparable areas where large predators are absent (Prugh et al., 2009; Taylor, 2015; Pretorius, 2019; Hardouin et al., 2021).

In the absence of suppression by apex predators, rapid population growth and range expansion in subordinate predator populations may occur, a process known as 'mesopredator release' (Prugh et al., 2009). This has been observed in the rapid expansion of blackbacked jackal and caracal populations in South Africa following local extirpation of apex predators across agricultural land (Kamler et al., 2012a; Taylor, 2015; Ramesh et al., 2017; Drouilly et al., 2018; Van der Weyde et al., 2018). In addition to significant economic damage through livestock depredation (Thorn et al., 2015), high densities of mesocarnivores can have wide ranging ecological impacts, through suppression of subordinate carnivores (Prugh et al., 2009; Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Kamler et al., 2012b). For example, Cape fox (*Vulpes chama*) found to be significantly less abundant in the Northern Cape on properties where black-backed jackal were present compared to properties where they had been eradicated, despite similar habitat characteristics and resources (Kamler et al., 2013). Direct resource competition between caracal and black-backed jackal also heavily influences population densities (Melville, 2004; Klare et al., 2010; Loveridge and Nel, 2013; Kamler et al., 2020c), with high caracal densities found in areas of low jackal density, and vice versa (Pohl, 2015). As a result of these highly complex interspecific interactions, it becomes difficult to derive conclusions about the degree of influence different factors present to mesocarnivore densities across different land uses, with wide reaching implications for species conservation management.

#### 1.2.3. Anthropogenic Disturbance

Anthropogenic disturbance unquestionably influences density of mesocarnivore populations, with impacts most acutely observed outside of protected reserves on human-dominated landscapes (Purvis et al., 2000; Woodroffe, 2000; Crooks, 2002; Schuette et al., 2013; Curveira-Santos et al., 2021a). High mortality resulting from human activities, presence of domestic animals and livestock (Hughes and Macdonald, 2013; Williams et al., 2019), pesticide use (Ramesh and Downs, 2015; Serieys et al., 2019) and hunting practices (Do Linh San et al., 2013) can cause high mortality outside of protected areas, resulting in complex source-sinks dynamics across heterogenous landscapes (Minnie et al., 2018b). Despite decades of persecution and lethal population management strategies, livestock depredation continues to cause significant economic disruption to the agricultural economy of South Africa (Avenant and Du Plessis, 2008; Minnie et al., 2018a), and mesocarnivore eradication regimes are commonly implemented to reduce, or in response to, livestock depredation (Purvis et al., 2000; Inskip and Zimmerman, 2009; Schuette et al., 2013; Crookes, 2023). In some areas, hunting can replicate natural mortality levels of black-backed jackal populations exposed to lethal interactions with apex predators (Treves and Naughton-Treves, 2005; Haswell et al., 2017; Kamler et al., 2020b), potentially neutralising any detrimental impacts from mesopredator release (Blaum et al., 2010). Continuous, high intensity hunting can maintain very low population densities or even eradicate targeted mesocarnivores (Kamler et al., 2013), but involve significant time and resources to maintain over time. On the other hand, lethal control measures in some areas may inadvertently inflate black-backed jackal abundance due to compensatory reproductive mechanisms and immigration into vacant territories (Nattrass and Conradie, 2013; Wielgus and Peebles, 2014; Minnie et al., 2016). For example, reducing population size increases resources available for surviving individuals, allowing previously subordinate individuals to reproduce earlier and more successfully (Minnie et al., 2016). The complexity of responses present a significant challenge when considering predator management approaches, and the extent to which measures impact mesocarnivore communities is largely unknown, particularly in regard to the potentially cascading effects on ecosystem functioning.

The impacts of predator management strategies on working landscapes can severely impact populations and ecosystem function, but effects are highly context dependant, with considerable variation observed between land uses and individual species responses (Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Kamler et al., 2013; Haswell et al., 2017; Curveira-Santos et al., 2019; Gigliotti et al., 2020; Pardo et al., 2022). Non-selective predator control measures can adversely impact non-target species, with honey badger (*Mellivora capensis*), aardwolf, and bat-eared fox particularly susceptible to non-selective predator control measures (Do Linh San et al., 2013, 2016; Treves et al., 2016; Pretorius, 2019). In the Kalahari, predator control measures negatively affected black-backed jackal, African wildcat (*Felis lybica*), and caracal, whereas bat-eared fox, cape fox, and small-spotted genet (*Genetta genetta*) were positively affected (Blaum et al., 2010). Positive responses of some species to lethal management are presumably due to reduced competitive pressure from more dominant intraguild species, highlighting the complexity of intraguild responses to anthropogenic management.

Although the impacts of anthropogenic disturbance are most acute on human-dominated landscapes, protected reserves are not immune from the effects of human activity, and management policies can influence the density and distribution of mesocarnivores within reserves. Some protected areas actively cull mesocarnivore populations to reduce predation pressures on ungulate populations (Nattrass and Conradie, 2015; Minnie et al., 2016), and management of vegetation structure through herbivory exclusion zones or fire regimes can affect community structure (Roemer et al., 2009; Clavel et al., 2011). Additionally, permeability of fence lines can influence densities by facilitation or prevention of dispersal processes (Edwards et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2021a), as well as impacting the level of encroaching anthropogenic disturbances along reserve edges (Woodroffe and Ginsberg, 1998; Balme et al., 2010).

Anthropogenic activities are increasingly impacting populations of mesocarnivores, both within and outside of protected landscapes. While generally considered detrimental, the impacts of anthropogenic activities on wildlife densities are highly dependent on the intensity of disturbance, the species affected, and the environmental context. Comprehension of the interactive processes that drive mesocarnivore density is invaluable for species conservation

11

and sustainable population management, but gaining this understanding relies upon accurate and reliable data for a highly diverse, and difficult to monitor, taxa.

### 1.3. Density Estimation Methods

Monitoring trends in wildlife populations is the cornerstone of effective management and conservation (Stem et al., 2005). Measures of population density can provide insight into both abundance and distribution of wildlife, allowing for direct comparisons between different populations of the same species. However, accurate measures of population size and abundance can be difficult to obtain, particularly for highly elusive species and for populations that occur over large areas (Kery et al., 2010; Bischof et al., 2014; Satterfield et al., 2017).

Advances in remote camera trapping technology have allowed researchers to monitor elusive species with minimal disturbance (Rowcliffe and Carbone, 2008; Rovero and Zimmermann, 2016; Agha et al., 2018), and novel methods to derive meaningful abundance estimates from camera trap data are constantly in development. Capture-mark-recapture (CMR) methods using camera trapping have been widely applied to large carnivores (Chase Grey et al., 2013; Swanepoel et al., 2015; Fouché et al., 2020), as well as some smaller felids with uniquely distinguishable markings (Anile et al., 2012; Caruso et al., 2012; Thornton and Pekins, 2015). However, methods requiring identification of individuals in a population cannot be applied to many mesocarnivore species that do not have distinct pelage patterns. Without the ability to recognise individuals, population density estimates have relied on indirect measures, such as photographic detection rates, which are generally not considered reliable abundance predictors, being overly simplistic and failing to account for variable detection probabilities (Carbone et al., 2001; Jennelle et al., 2002; Rovero, and Marshall, 2009; Sollmann et al., 2013; Burton et al., 2015). Consequently, alternative methods have emerged to calculate density without the need for individual recognition, including the Random Encounter Model (REM; Rowcliffe et al., 2008), the Random Encounter Staying Model (REST; Nakashima et al., 2018), and distance sampling using camera traps (CTDS; Howe et al., 2017).

Eliminating the need for individual recognition in density estimation can increase the applicability of camera trapping for estimating densities of unmarked species and offer multiple advantages over CMR methods. REM, REST and CTDS all allow for more flexibility in sampling designs and can target multiple species during one survey period (Cappelle et al., 2021; Palencia et al., 2021a). Furthermore, these methods eliminate the need for assumptions around spatial autocorrelation in captures, as required by mark-recapture methods, reducing the minimum number of captures required for analysis (Palencia et al., 2021a). These methods have the potential to provide robust density estimates of unmarked species, but each have

specific caveats and ways of addressing violation of assumptions that affect suitability which must be carefully considered before their application (Cappelle et al., 2021; Gilbert et al., 2021; Palencia et al., 2021a; Morin et al., 2022).

The Random Encounter Model (REM) is derived from the ideal gas theory, wherein animal movement is likened to the random movement of gas particles (Hutchinson and Waser, 2007). Density is estimated by accounting for the relationship between encounter rate, the effective field of view of the camera trap, and the speed of animal movement (Rowcliffe et al., 2008). Since being proposed, REM has been widely developed (Lucas et al., 2015; Jourdain et al., 2020), and tested on a range of species (Zero et al., 2013; Pfeffer et al., 2018; Kavčić et al., 2021), including carnivore populations (Manzo et al., 2012; Anile et al., 2014; Cusack et al., 2015a). When compared to capture-recapture or other unmarked density models, this method appears to produce comparable estimates, although some studies have reported higher estimates using REM than alternative techniques (Anile et al., 2014; Palencia et al., 2021a; Pettigrew et al., 2021; Santini et al., 2022; Twining et al., 2022). Like most modelling approaches, REM relies on accurate data for model parameters, which can be difficult to measure. Estimates of animal speed of movement are particularly difficult to reliably obtain at a sufficient temporal resolution (Rowcliffe et al., 2012), and can significantly influence estimates and precision (Melville and Strauss 2021; Santini et al., 2022). Previous application of REM have relied upon data from GPS collars or from following habituated populations to estimate animal speed of movement (Cusack et al., 2015a; Caravaggi et al., 2016; Pettigrew et al., 2021), but more recent developments have allowed estimation directly from camera trapping data, significantly increasing the applicability of the method (Rowcliffe et al., 2016; Palencia et al., 2021b).

The Random Encounter Staying Time model (REST) builds upon the REM by discarding the need for animal movement data, instead describing the relationship among staying time, trapping rate, and density (Nakashima et al., 2018). By incorporating staying time of animals in front of the camera as an alternative to speed of movement, REST offers a less expensive and time-saving alternative to REM when animal movement data is not available, as staying time can be estimated relatively quickly from videos or consecutive photo bursts (Palencia et al., 2021a; Santini et al., 2022). An advantage of REST over REM is the ability to incorporate environmental covariates into density estimates, allowing spatial variation in denisty to be modelled across heterogenous environments (Nakashima et al., 2018). To date, the REST model has been applied to estimate the density of forest ungulates (Nakashima et al., 2020) and tested with human volunteers (Garland et al., 2020).

CTDS is adapted from well-established distance sampling theoretical framework which forms a cornerstone of wildlife monitoring (Buckland et al., 2001; Thomas et al., 2010; Howe et al., 2017). Conventional distance sampling uses point or line transect surveys to detect animals at recorded distances from the observer, which are then fitted to a detection function to estimate detection probability at increasing distance from the observer, while accounting for imperfect detection (Buckland et al., 2001; Borchers et al., 2002; Thomas et al., 2010). Using human observers to conduct wildlife surveys can be costly and time consuming, and human presence may impact detectability of some species (Buckland et al., 2001). This issue may be particularly challenging outside of protected areas where human activity and wildlife persecution is more prevalent, and populations are therefore more alert to human presence (Suraci et al., 2019). By adapting traditional point transect distance sampling methods for use with camera traps, CTDS allows for continuous, non-invasive sampling, reducing the potential for low detection due to human disturbance, and increasing the applicability of camera trapping to monitor rare or elusive populations (Palencia et al., 2021a).

Field tests of CTDS have been conducted on populations of chimpanzees (Cappelle et al., 2019), marmots (Corlatti et al., 2020) and mountain ungulates (Harris et al., 2020; Pal et al., 2021), and comparable estimates have been produced by CTDS in relation to known population sizes and alternative density estimation methods (Howe et al., 2017; Harris et al., 2020; Cappelle et al., 2021). Previous studies have also built upon original methodology to increase the applicability of CTDS for monitoring rare or fast-moving species, as well as allowing flexibility in camera trap settings (Corlatti et al., 2020; Mason et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023). However, estimates for exceptionally rare species may be too imprecise (Cappelle et al., 2021), and bias in density estimates may occur for species that show high reactivity to camera traps (Houa et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023).

Identifying one optimal method to estimate densities of unmarked populations is a significant challenge, as each method has been found to be more applicable under different scenarios (Gilbert et al., 2021; Palencia et al., 2021a). Palencia et al. (2021a) evaluated the performance of REM, REST and CTDS, applying each to the same mammalian populations. Although the three methods did not predict significantly different density values in most populations tested, Palencia et al., (2021a) concluded that REST is most suitable for high abundance species, whereas REM is recommended when camera trap performance is suboptimal, and preferred over REST when fewer camera traps are available (Palencia et al., 2021a; Santini et al., 2022). CTDS is reportedly more suited to low abundance populations, as multiple data points can be obtained from one capture occasion, increasing potential sample size from relatively few independent encounters (Palencia et al., 2021). For this reason, CTDS has emerged as a promising method to monitor mesocarnivore communities that often occur in low abundances

and has previously been applied to populations in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (Bessone et al., 2020), the UK (Mason et al., 2022), and South Africa (McKaughan et al., 2023).

Numerous developments have been proposed to the original CTDS methodology to increase its effectiveness under different scenarios. Mason et al. (2022) successfully applied CTDS to populations of two mesocarnivores, European badger (*Meles meles*) and red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) while investigating the performance of CTDS when applied to both survey-wide and habitat-specific areas. Reported densities were within the range of previously published estimates, and despite large confidence intervals, were amongst the most precise produced for the species at the time of publication. Similarly, CTDS produced estimates largely within the expected range for four mesocarnivore species in the Limpopo region of South Africa, although variance was high (McKaughan et al., 2023). Additionally, McKaughan et al. (2023) evaluated the methodological elements of CTDS regarding both survey design and calculations of survey effort, revealing significant variation in estimates according to the analytical method applied (See section 2.4.2). Continual testing of the method is still required to assess the robustness under different study designs and ways to improve precision, the development of which is vital to derive meaningful conclusions from estimates that can be incorporated into conservation and management planning.

### 1.4. Rationale and Research Questions

Population monitoring is an essential part of wildlife management on both protected and nonprotected landscapes, and is vital to inform decisions around reintroductions, population management, or sustainable harvesting quotas. Mammalian predators are widely studied across South Africa, but there is disparity in research efforts, with greater focus on larger species, and populations within protected areas (Agha et al., 2018; Balme et al., 2014; Brooke et al., 2014; Fazey et al., 2005; Small, 2011). Smaller bodied carnivores are comparatively understudied (Brooke et al., 2014), and population trends for half of all species in mainland Africa are unknown (Do Linh San et al., 2013). This research deficiency has led to a lack of robust data, which is vital to reliably inform extinction risk (Do Linh San et al., 2013; IUCN, 2022).

The ecological role of smaller bodied carnivores is becoming increasingly recognised (Roemer et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2019), with evidence of some species facilitating nutrient cycling (Schmitz et al., 2010; Gharajehdaghipour et al., 2016; Kucheravy et al., 2021), seed dispersal (Herrera, 1989; Hamalainen et al., 2017; Kamler et al., 2020a; Rubalcava-Castillo et al., 2021; Nakashima and Do Linh San, 2022), and organic waste disposal by scavenging from larger

predator kills or livestock carcasses (Ćirović et al., 2016; Prugh and Sivy, 2020). Predation on agroecosystems can provide biological control of rodent populations, reducing crop losses (Williams et al., 2019) and transmission risk of zoonotic diseases (Ostfeld and Holt, 2004; Levi et al., 2012). Marneweck et al. (2022) recently highlighted the role of small carnivores as sentinels of global change, wherein behavioural or population level changes can indicate wider ecological shifts and changes in ecosystem function. However, detecting these changes requires reliable population monitoring, and the highly elusive nature of smaller bodied carnivores presents challenges for capturing the quantity and quality of data required to reliably estimate population size or density (Brooke et al., 2014). Development of techniques to monitor abundances of populations is therefore vital for understanding the natural and anthropogenic factors that influence mesocarnivore populations, as well as to identify and mitigate threats to at-risk populations.

This study aims to assess the efficacy of CTDS in determining mesocarnivore densities within a private game reserve and an adjacent mixed-used agricultural area in the Eastern Cape of South Africa. Densities of target species will be estimated across both landscapes, providing vital data for both reserve and agricultural management, as well as contributing to wider ecological understanding of understudied carnivora species.

#### Key Aims and Objectives

- To investigate the ability of CTDS to estimate densities of mesocarnivores under different analytical approaches.
- To estimate density of mesocarnivore populations within a protected, private game reserve and an adjacent mixed use agricultural area.
- To compare population densities of mesocarnivores across different land uses.

# 2. Methods

### 2.1. Note on fieldwork

Fieldwork was initially planned to take place within Umfurudzi Park, Zimbabwe through a collaborative project with Zimbabwe National Parks and a newly established conservation and sustainable development initiative. This project intended to use camera traps to estimate densities of mesocarnivores within the park, as well as providing baseline data for all wildlife populations to inform potential reintroductions and future monitoring. The acquisition of research permits presented an initial delay to the commencement of fieldwork until May 2022. After receipt of necessary permits, I travelled to South Africa prior to commencement of planned fieldwork to source and test equipment before intending to travel to Zimbabwe.

Unfortunately, logistical challenges with the establishment of the wider project at Umfurudzi Park resulted in the last-minute cancellation of the project, making it impossible to conduct fieldwork as planned. As a result, it became necessary to reconfigure the project on a new field site in the Eastern Cape of South Africa using limited time and resources available. Through a collaboration with the management team at Shamwari Private Game Reserve and the landowner of an adjacent property, I was able to amend the aims of the initial study to investigate comparative densities across two contrasting landscapes, while retaining the core methodological approaches of the original project.

#### 2.2. Study Area

The study area falls within the Alexandria and Albany districts of the Eastern Cape, approximately 85 km north-east of Gqeberha (33°21'29.7"S 26°11'57.3"E; Figure 1), and on the western edge of the Maputaland-Pondoland-Albany Global Biodiversity Hotspot, recognised for its high biodiversity and endemism (*CEPF*, 2010). A camera trapping survey was conducted across two adjacent properties: a mixed used agricultural area (MUA), and Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR). Established in 1990, SGR is a protected, 180 km<sup>2</sup> private game reserve managed primarily as a five-star ecotourism destination. Since its establishment in 1990, SGR has consolidated and restored farmland for the aim of conserving floral and faunal biodiversity (Joubert and O'Brien, 2005; "The Shamwari Story," 2023).

A camera trapping survey was conducted across an approximately 21 km<sup>2</sup> subsection of SGR, in an area appended to the existing reserve in 2007 and most frequently used by the reserve's conservation volunteer experience. The MUA is approximately 11.5 km<sup>2</sup>, with a northern and southern section separated by a public road, and internal cattle fencing throughout. The property is bordered by electrified game fences on all sides, and is primarily used for grazing and breeding cattle, as well as olive plantations (approximately 0.3 km<sup>2</sup>), and infrequent game hunting. Anthropogenic activities on the MUA are more concentrated on the south side of the public road, whereas sections of the northern side of the property are rarely visited by humans or livestock. Both study sites contain permanent water sources, residencies, and commercial properties, and are separated by an electrified "predator-proof" game fence.

#### 2.2.1. Historical and Current land use

This region was largely considered unsuitable for intensive agriculture by European settlers, and cultivation was generally restricted to alluvial soils near permanent water (Lubke et al.1986. Livestock grazing has been, and continues to be, the primary production of the region (Lubke et al.1986; O'Brien, 2012). However, intensive overgrazing, high labour costs, and prolonged periods of drought have resulted in a shift from pastoralism towards more

economically viable game farming or tourism ventures since the 1980s (Smith and Wilson 2002; Sims-Castely et al., 2005; Langholz and Kerley 2006; Cousins et al., 2008; Hamann and Tuinder, 2012). Through acquisition and aggregation of multiple small farms, numerous small (< 500 km<sup>2</sup>) private game reserves have been established in the region (Langholz and Kerley, 2006). These reserves have restored overgrazed landscapes and reintroduced wildlife for the purpose of offering wildlife viewing experiences in a malaria-free area (Castley et al., 2001; Hayward et al., 2007a). SGR was one such reserve, established in 1990 with the acquisition of farmland that had been rendered economically inviable by prolonged period of droughts (O'Brien, 2012).

#### 2.2.2. Climate

Falling between the Mediterranean climate in the Western Cape and the subtropical climate in Kwa-Zulu Natal, the Eastern Cape experiences a highly varied climate. Rainfall patterns are bimodal, with a summer rainfall zone in the east and a winter rainfall zone in the west (Hamann and Tuinder, 2012). The study area falls within the winter rainfall zone, receiving a mean annual precipitation of 598mm, peaking in the spring (Hijmans et al., 2005; Mahlalela et al., 2020). With an altitudinal range of 380 – 689m, the mean minimum temperature is 8°C in the winter, and mean maximum temperature is 30°C in the summer months (Zhang et al., 2019), with landowners reporting maximum temperatures of up to 47°C (per comms with local landowners).

The Eastern Cape of South Africa has suffered a severe drought since 2015, and the province was declared a 'drought disaster region' in 2019 due to severe water shortages in many rural and urban areas (Mahlalela et al., 2020). As a result, many previously permanent water sources within the MUA dried up in 2019, and SGR have provided artificial watering points throughout the reserve (per comms with reserve management).



**Figure 1**. Study area was located on two adjacent properties in the Eastern Cape province of South Africa; (a) a mixed-use agricultural area (MUA) and a protected area; Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR); (b) The subsection of SGR where camera trapping took place; (c) National context of the study area.

#### 2.2.3. Vegetation

Hosting all of South Africa's biomes, the Eastern Cape is recognised for varied and diverse floral communities that developed as a result of the climatic, geomorphological, and geological conditions of the area (Lubke et al., 1986). Variable rainfall patterns across the province results are reflected in variable growing seasons, with the central and western regions predominated by C3 grasses that favour caprinae livestock production (Hamann and Tuinder, 2012).

Five recognised South African biomes are found within SGR: savanna, thicket, grassland, forest and fynbos, three which occur within the camera trapping survey area (fynbos, savanna, and thicket biomes). Within these biomes, with five distinct units are found, which represent vegetation community groups sharing similar biotic and abiotic features (Figure 2; Mucina and Rutherford, 2011). Within the thicket biome, SGR contains large areas of Grahamstown Grassland Thicket, characterised by a mosaic of low thicket patches and grassland, in addition to small areas of Albany Valley Thicket consisting of medium to tall thicket vegetation, dominated by small trees and woody shrubs (Hoare et al., 2006). The only unit of savanna

biome in the study area is Bhisho thornveld, occurring primarily on undulating and moderately steep slopes or drainage valleys across both SGR and the MUA. This unit is characterised by open savanna; small trees with short-medium dense grassland understorey (Rutherford et al., 2006). Two fynbos units are found within both study sites; large areas of Suurberg Quartzile Fynbos, and smaller patches of Suurberg Shale Fynbos. Both fynbos units occur on low rounded hills and mountains, and support low-medium high ericoid shrubland or grasslands, with understorey comprised of restioid or grasses (Rebelo et al., 2006). The distinction between quartzite and shale fynbos is thought to primarily concern the geology of their habitats, but further research is needed to confirm physically distinct characteristics between these two units (Rebelo et al., 2006).





Having previously been used for intensive caprinae livestock farming, both sites also show evidence of severe overgrazing, with some areas considered 'disturbed lands' as they no longer conform to any natural vegetation (O'Brien, 2012). Additionally, vegetation structures of the same vegetation unit are likely to demonstrate physical variation due to the foraging behaviour of elephants (*Loxodonta africana*) on SGR (Cowling and Kerley, 2002).

#### 2.2.4. Wildlife

After the arrival of 1820s European settlers and subsequent onset of intensive agriculture, the majority of large predators were eradicated from the Eastern Cape (Skead 2007). Leopard are thought to have persisted in the region at low densities, primarily in remote areas away from human settlement (Skead, 2007, Minnie et al., 2015). Although both brown and spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*) were historically recorded in the Eastern Cape, very few instances of brown hyaena were recorded in the region, and the species was considered extirpated in the 1980s (Skead, 2007; Stuart, 1981).

As part of ecological restoration, as well as to attract tourism, native wildlife has been reintroduced into SGR, in addition to extra-limital species such as white rhinoceros (Cerathotherium simum) and giraffe (Giraffa giraffa; Castley et al., 2001; Maciejewski and Kerley, 2014). The first herbivores were reintroduced into the reserve in 1992, with predators following in 2000, marking the first reintroduction of free roaming large carnivores into the Eastern Cape (O'Brien, 2012). Reintroduced carnivores included lion (Panthera leo), wild dogs (Lycaon pictus), brown hyena (Parahyaena brunnea), cheetah (Acinonyx jubatus) and serval (Leptailurus serval), as well as additional leopard (Hayward et al., 2007a; O'Brien, 2012). With the exception of wild dogs that were removed from the reserve due to repeated escapes and pressure on prey stocks, these reintroductions have been considered largely successful (Hayward et al., 2007b; Banasiak et al., 2021b). SGR now contains the 'Big Five'; lion, leopard, elephant, rhinoceros (Cerathotherium simum and Diceros bicornis) and African buffalo (Syncerus caffer). Aside from brown hyaena and serval, mesocarnivores have not been actively reintroduced in the reserve, and species present today are believed to have persisted in the area or recolonised naturally, including black-backed jackal, caracal, honey badger, aardwolf and bat-eared fox (Hayward et al., 2007a; O'Brien, 2012).

In terms of mammalian herbivore populations, both SGR and the MUA support populations of greater kudu (*Tragelaphus strepsiceros*), mountain reedbuck (*Redunca fulvorufula*) and waterbuck (*Kobus ellipsiprymnus*), as well as smaller ungulates such as common duiker (*Sylvicapra grimmia*) and bushbuck (*Tragelaphus sylvaticus*). Aside from a breeding herd of blesbok (*Damaliscus pygargus phillipsi*), the MUA has not intentionally stocked ungulate species on the property, whereas SGR supports numerous populations, including zebra (*Equus quagga burchellii*), black wildebeest (*Connochaetes gnou*), red hartebeest (*Alcelaphus buselaphus caama*), sable (*Hippotragus niger*), impala (*Aepyceros melampus*) and springbok (*Antidorcas marsupialis*).

Private game reserves such as SGR are legally required to install electrified "predator-proof" game fencing to separate wildlife from adjacent farmlands and communities, which aims to

protect "managed wild populations", prevent disease transmission to livestock and avoid human-wildlife conflict (Hayward and Kerley 2009). However, despite fencing, increasing occurrences of negative human-wildlife interactions have been reported in this region of the Eastern Cape since the establishment of private game reserves (Banasiak et al., 2021a), with the local farming community reporting a perceived increased livestock depredation by primarily caracal and black-backed jackal (Van Niekerk, 2010; Banasiak et al., 2021a). As a result, mesocarnivores are widely considered 'pests', and professional culls, opportunistic shooting, and hunts using dogs are conducted in the area. Although hunting of black-backed jackal has occurred on MUA in the past, no carnivores were hunted or culled on the MUA during the study period.

#### 2.3. Fieldwork

Sixteen camera traps (Bushnell Single Core 119938C; Browning Recon Force Extreme BTC-7FHD-PX) were rotated over 71 sites to survey for mesocarnivores in SGR and the MUA between August and November 2022. Camera locations were predetermined using QGIS (version 3.2.0, 2022) and placed at the intersections and central points of a systematic 1 km x 1 km grid with a random origin (Figure 1). A systematic, random sampling design was applied to adhere to the assumption that points are independent of animal location, reducing potential bias in estimates that would occur if cameras were placed on roads or trails that are preferentially used by many species (Howe et al. 2017; See Section 4.2.2). By spacing camera traps in relation to the home ranges of target species, the risk of double-counting individuals can be reduced. However, when undertaking multi-species surveys, cameras must be spaced appropriately to reflect variable home ranges of all members of the target guild and ensure all individuals within the study area have an equal chance of being detected. Considering this, cameras were placed within a finer scale grid than would be expected to solely capture larger-ranging species such as brown hyaena, than species such as mongooses (*Herpestidae sp.*).

Cameras were deployed as close as possible to the pre-determined point and oriented south  $(\pm 30^{\circ})$  to avoid overexposure to sunlight. Where sites were impossible to access or there were no suitable mounting points, cameras were placed in the nearest suitable location, without intentionally targeting areas that would increase detection probability. The absence of trees in the thicket vegetation biome posed a challenge in identifying appropriate and stable natural mounting points near the designated location for camera placement. The use of artificial mounting posts was considered, but this was not encouraged by land managers in the study area due to high likelihood of elephant and livestock interference. Consequently, deviations from the designated points were frequent (mean 44.0 m; range 2.7 - 220.7 m), and

the mean camera spacing of deployed cameras was 720.17 m (range 579.8 - 856.1 m).Camera height varied between 40-100 cm to allow for more stable installation, and cameras were angled approximately level to the ground. Vegetation directly obscuring the field of view was cleared to avoid repeated false triggers, but efforts were taken to ensure vegetation removal was minimal to preserve important floral diversity of SGR.

Cameras were active for 24 hours a day and programmed to capture between three and five images of 8MP resolution when triggered, with a five to ten second trigger interval between potential successive capture events. Specific settings at each site were determined based on vegetation characteristics and the likelihood of false triggers. For example, where cameras were deployed at sites where vegetation movement was likely to trigger the camera frequently, the number of images in a burst was reduced, and the interval between potential triggers was extended to conserve battery life for the duration of the sampling period. Each camera was active for approximately fourteen days (mean 14.4 days; range 12 - 23 days), before being relocated to a new survey site, at which time batteries were replaced where necessary, and memory cards were downloaded. A migrating camera trap grid was chosen to increase the number of sampling locations and maximise coverage of the study area given the limited number of camera traps available. Considering CTDS can include multiple data points from non-independent capture occasions (see Section 2.4.1. Camera Trap Distance Sampling), the potential double counting of individuals was not considered to influence results (Cappelle et al., 2021, McKaughan et al., 2023). In the event of battery failure or cameras being moved or damaged within 10 days of deployment, cameras were redeployed for an additional survey period. One pre-determined point located directly on the fence separating the two study sites was sampled on both properties.

Videos of researchers walking across the field of view highlighting distances at 3, 5, 8, 10, 12 and 15m from the camera were taken on collection of each camera trap (Howe et al., 2017; Figure 3). These videos served as a reference for estimating radial distances from the camera lens to the midpoint of target species captured.



**Figure 3.** Screenshot from reference videos taken on collect of each camera trap, used to estimate radial distances from the camera to the midpoint of the detected animal. Image shows researcher walking across the camera field of view with a tape measure indicating 5m distance.

All images were examined manually using photo management software 'digikam' (version 6.2.0; www.digikam.org), with mammalian captures identified and assigned a metadata species tag. Distances for each capture of target species were tagged in increments of 0.5-meter intervals up to 8m, 1-meter intervals from 8m to 15m, and distances beyond 15m were allocated '15+'. Tags and metadata were extracted and subsequently managed in R using camtrapR version 2.2.0 (Niedballa et al., 2016; R Core Team, 2022).

### 2.4. Data Analysis

#### 2.4.1. Camera Trap Distance Sampling

In CTDS, density  $(\widehat{D})$  is estimated as:

$$\widehat{D} = \frac{n_k}{\pi w^2 e_k \widehat{P}_k}$$

where  $n_k$  is the number of observations of animals at a given sampling location (*k*), *w* is the truncation distance beyond which any recorded distances are discarded,  $e_k$  is the sampling effort expended at point *k* (See section 2.4.2), and  $\hat{P}_k$  describes the probability of capturing an image of an animal at the snapshot moment, within the camera field of view (FOV) and truncation distance (*w*), and is estimated by modelling the detection function using measured radial distances.

The same modelling assumptions as conventional distance sampling from observational point or line transects apply. Sampling localities are random and independent of animal distributions, animals are detected at their initial locations, distances are accurately measured, and detection probability at zero distance is certain (Buckland et al., 2001). However, in CTDS, violation of certain assumptions is expected, and caveats exist to minimise resulting bias. Animals passing near to the camera are likely to be missed due to moving out of the frame too quickly, passing below the camera, or being too close for species identification, resulting in fewer than expected detections at near distances. This can be addressed by deploying cameras at an appropriate height for target species, or applying left truncation (Buckland et al., 2001; Howe et al., 2017). Observations are also unlikely to be independent due to inclusion of multiple detections within the same capture occasion as the animal moves across the FOV. Violation of the assumption of independence introduces overdispersion and invalidates traditional model selection process using Akaike information criteria (AIC). To address this, Howe et al. (2019) proposed an alternative method for over-dispersed sampling data that estimates an over-dispersion factor ( $\hat{c}$ ), calculated from the  $X^2$  goodness-of-fit statistic divided by its degrees of freedom (QAIC; Howe et al., 2019).

#### 2.4.2. Effort Calculations

In CTDS, sampling effort is obtained by defining a series of discrete 'snapshot moments', at which animals are considered available for detection, which aims to reduce bias in initial detection distances (Howe et al., 2017). Sampling effort is calculated at each survey site as:  $e_k = \frac{\theta T_k}{2\pi t}$ , with  $\theta$  defined as the angle of camera view,  $T_k$  as the sampling period, and t (or effective t) as the interval between snapshot moments (Howe et al., 2017). In first iterations of CTDS, snapshot moments were deemed to be pre-determined 't' units of time apart, initially defined as fixed second intervals in a video. However, this approach can significantly reduce the available data for density analysis when using bursts of still images from camera traps, as captures falling outside the snapshot moment are excluded. To address this, recent studies have proposed the use of an effective snapshot interval (effective t), based on camera trapping rates (Corlatti et al., 2020; Mason et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023), which can increase the applicability of CTDS for less abundant populations, and allow flexibility in camera trap settings.

For use with sequences of still camera images, effective *t* has been defined as the minimum time between single-image captures (Corlatti et al., 2020), the mean time between photos in a burst (Mason et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023), or the mean time between the combined duration of a burst and trigger interval (McKaughan et al., 2023). Sampling effort was

estimated using two of the methods described in McKaughan et al. (2023): the trigger adjusted effort (TA) and the recovery-driven interval (RDI). Similar to approaches outlined in Corlatti et al. (2020) and Mason et al. (2022), the TA method defines effective *t* as the mean time between photos in a burst, calculated by dividing the burst time ( $B_k$ ) by the number of images in a burst ( $n_k$ ) and defining effective *t* as:  $t = \frac{B_k}{n_k}$ . The RDI method incorporates the burst time ( $B_k$ ) and true trigger interval (*R*) to calculate a 'mean burst time' from which effective *t* is calculated as:  $t = \frac{B_k + R}{n_k}$  (McKaughan et al., 2023).

As camera performance metrics are likely to vary from the manufacturer's specifications (Corlatti et al., 2020), the true burst times and trigger intervals for each survey location were calculated directly from the capture data. The mean burst time for each site was extracted from the timestamp data of every capture event. The true trigger interval was determined from periods of time when cameras were triggered constantly during set up and removal, and verified by ex-situ testing, wherein cameras were triggered constantly for five minutes using different setting combinations and the timestamp of triggers extracted. In consideration of the expected variability in camera performance between different camera trap makes, and to allow for flexibility in camera settings between survey sites, effective *t*, and subsequently survey effort, was calculated on a site-specific basis. Periods of time where cameras were inactive due to battery failure or obstruction of the FOV were removed from  $T_k$ , and additional time cameras were inactive during trigger intervals was excluded from  $T_k$  when applying the TA method.

#### 2.4.3. Activity

In CTDS, species are not considered available for detection during periods of inactivity. Therefore, the time cameras were active at each site ( $T_k$ ) was adjusted based on species' temporal activity schedules derived from capture occasions during the study period. Using the 'activity' package in R (Rowcliffe et al., 2014), the timestamp from the first image in each trigger sequence was fitted to a flexible circular distribution, estimating the proportion of time each species was active in each study site from the fitted model distributions (Rowcliffe et al., 2014). To increase sample size available, all data captured from cameras deployed within the study area within the five-month period from June – November 2022 was included in activity analysis, including captures obtained from cameras deployed as part of a pilot study, and opportunistic captures from cameras deployed outside of the CTDS grid. Timestamps were adjusted for seasonal variation in daylight hours, and a bandwidth multiplier of 1.5 was applied to improve robustness (Rowcliffe et al., 2014). No time-to-independence filter was applied (Peral et al., 2022), but captures where species showed reactivity to the camera were

excluded to avoid overestimation from repeated triggers (e.g. a clear change in direction, approaching or directly interacting with the camera). A coefficient of activity overlap ( $\Delta$ ) was calculated between the two black-backed jackal populations modelled using the overlap package in R with 1000 bootstrap repetitions (Ridout and Linkie, 2009).

#### 2.4.4. Effective Detection Angles

Within calculations of survey effort ( $e_k$ ), the proportion of a 360° circle covered by a camera traps FOV is represented by  $(\frac{\theta}{2\pi})$ , where  $\theta$  represents the camera field of view. The FOV for each camera make was verified to be accurate against the handbook specifications using static object markers placed at variable distances from the camera trap. These markers were positioned at the widest point within the frame of images taken by the camera. By measuring the distance between these static markers, the angle of view could then be calculated using trigonometry. However, the effective angle at which animals are detected by camera traps may be narrower than the handbook specified FOV, as probability of detection decreases towards the periphery of the camera's frame. Therefore, for each camera trap make used in the survey, the effective detection angle was estimated for each modelled species, which was then incorporated into effort calculations as  $\theta$  (Rowcliffe et al., 2011). As with availability for detection, this calculation included data from all camera traps deployed within the study area within the five-month period from June to November 2022, including captures obtained from cameras deployed as part of a pilot study, and opportunistic captures from cameras deployed outside of the CTDS grid.

Separating data captured by each camera trap make, the angle from the camera lens to the midpoint of the animal was recorded at the point of initial detection within each capture sequence. Using the respective camera model's FOV, the relative angle of capture was calculated, with 0° being at the vertical midline, and angles increasing towards the periphery of the frame. The relative angles of capture were then grouped into 0-20%, 20-60% and 60-100% bins, and fitted to a half normal detection function to estimate the effective detection angle using the Distance package in R (Hofmeester et al., 2017; Mason et al., 2022).

#### 2.4.5. Density Estimation

All density estimates were modelled using the Distance package in R (Miller et al., 2019). A minimum of 60 observations was deemed sufficient for reliable density estimates (Buckland et al., 2001), and analytical decisions regarding truncation and heaping were based on exploratory analysis of histograms of radial distances for each modelled population. Data was binned based on visual inspection of the histograms of radial distances to eliminate bias from

heaping (Buckland et al., 2001; Howe et al., 2017). Right truncation was applied to account for tailing, where greater than expected detections were recorded at far distances, and fewer than expected detections at low distances was addressed by left truncation at the distance of peak detection probability for each modelled population.

Captures where animals showed clear reactivity (i.e., clearly changing direction of movement in response to camera trap) or attraction to the camera were excluded from analysis to minimise bias in encounter rates. The remaining radial distances were fitted to detection functions and modelled using uniform with up to 3 cosine adjustments, half-normal and with up to 2 cosine, hermite and polynomial adjustments, and hazard-rate with up to 1 cosine, hermite and polynomial adjustments. Excluding models that were not naturally monotonically decreasing (Buckland et al., 2001), final model selection was based on two-step model selection procedure outlined by Howe et al. (2019) for over dispersed data (Buckland et al., 2001; Howe et al., 2017, 2019). Variance was estimated over 1000 bootstrap repetitions using resampling of points with replacement (Buckland et al., 2001).

## 3. Results

#### 3.1. Camera Trap Survey Results

Across the two study sites, 82 camera trap surveys were conducted in 71 independent locations (Table 1; Figure 1a). Eleven sites were resampled due to battery failure or interference by wildlife, and data was included in analysis up until the point of failure.

18670 images of 35 different mammalian species of were recorded on SGR, and 9164 images of 23 species were recorded on the MUA (Appendix S1). Of the target mesocarnivore species, 910 images were captured: 556 on SGR and 354 on the MUA (Table 1). Using 60 records of radial distance measurements as a minimum for CTDS analysis (Buckland et al., 2001), density estimates were able to be modelled for brown hyaena on SGR, and black-backed jackal on both SGR and MUA.

#### Table 1. Survey capture data

Site	Survey	Surveys	Trap	Images captured of target species						
	locations		nights	BH	BBJ	Aard	BEFx	Car	HB	
SGR	47	51	346.5	323	132	21	50	25	5	
MUA	24	31	196	5	257	50	25	12	5	

Survey locations is the number of independent locations surveyed; surveys is the number of surveys conducted including repeated samples. Trap nights is the number of active 24-hour cycles completed by independent cameras. Images captured of target species is the number of images with a distance measurement for each mesocarnivore; brown hyaena (BH), black-backed jackal (BBJ), aardwolf (Aard), bat-eared fox (BEFx), caracal (Car) and honey badger (HB).

#### 3.2. Activity

The proportion of time each species spent active across the two study sites was similar (Table 2), and consistent with expected activity patterns for primarily nocturnal predators. Both species showing marginally higher proportion of active time on the MUA than SGR. Brown hyaena showed clear nocturnal activity pattern, whereas variability was observed between black-backed jackal on the two sites. On the MUA, black-backed jackal showed clear crepuscular peaks of activity, whereas this was less clear on SGR, with diurnal and extended nocturnal activity observed (Figure 4;  $\Delta = 0.68$ , 95% confidence interval 0.62 – 0.81).

Table 2. Availability for detection

Species	Site	n	Availability for detection	se	lcl	ucl
Black-Backed Jackal	SGR	56	0.400	0.082	0.302	0.602
Black-Backed Jackal	MUA	91	0.479	0.056	0.350	0.552
Brown Hyaena	SGR	72	0.306	0.043	0.224	0.402
Brown Hyaena	MUA	38	0.316	0.060	0.241	0.465

Site is Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR) or the mixed used agricultural area (MUA). 'n' is the number of data points included in activity analysis, including captures from extra-grid cameras, but excluding captures where animals reacted to the camera. Availability for detection is the proportion of time species are considered active, calculated from the fitted flexible circular distribution. Standard error (se), 2.5% lower confidence interval (lcl) and 97.5% upper confidence interval (ucl).



**Figure 4.** Activity schedules for mesocarnivores with sufficient captures to model density on Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR) and a mixed used agricultural area (MUA).

#### 3.3. Effective Detection Angles

Unadjusted half normal were the best fitting for all effective detection angle models. Effective angle of detection for each camera make was similar for both species, and all but one model showed narrower effective detection angle than the camera specifications FOV (Table 3). Browning cameras have a wider handbook FOV than Bushnell cameras, and effective angle of detections were very close (>98%) or equal to the handbook specifications for both target species, indicating greater detectability at the edges of the FOV for the Browning than Bushnell camera traps.

	0		
Species	Camera make	Handbook FOV (rad)	EDA (rad)
Black-Backed Jackal	Bushnell	0.663	0.499
Black-Backed Jackal	Browning	0.960	0.944
Brown Hyaena	Bushnell	0.663	0.566
Brown Hyaena	Browning	0.960	0.960

 Table 3. Effective detection angles

Handbook FOV is the field of view described in the manufacturer specifications in radians (rad). EDA is the species-specific effective detection angle for each camera trap make, included in effort calculations as angle of view ( $\theta$ ).

## 3.4. Camera Performance

### 3.4.1. Photographic Burst Times

Based on the manufacturer's specifications, variation in performance between Bushnell and Browning camera makes was expected. However, inconsistencies were also recorded in photographic burst time between individual camera units of the same make, and more surprisingly, between different surveys that used the same camera unit. The mean burst time recorded for each combination of settings varied considerably, particularly among the Browning camera units (Figure 5). As a result, using mean burst times to calculate effective t across all camera stations was unlikely to reflect the true survey effort, and so effort was calculated on a site-specific basis to reflect real camera trap performance metrics at each survey site (recorded values for effective t are shown in Appendix S2).



**Figure 5**. Burst times of camera traps units for each sampling occasion. Y axis: 'shot' refers to number of images in a burst; 'int' refers to the handbook trigger interval programmes on deployment of the camera trap. The box and whisker plot depicts distribution of camera trap burst times under different programmed setting combinations. 'Box' shows the interquartile range (IQR), with the median (50th percentile) shown as the bold line. 'Whiskers' extend to the minimum and maximum values. Red points indicate mean burst time for each setting. 'n' is the number of sites sampled with the specified settings.

#### 3.4.2. Trigger Intervals

The trigger interval between bursts (minimum time taken for the camera trap to recover after triggering before a new trigger event can be captured) in ex-situ testing were consistent with those recorded within field surveys during periods of constant movement, but inconsistent with handbook trigger intervals (Table 4). Using the handbook trigger intervals in to calculate overall sampling effort would therefore have underestimated effort and resulted in positive bias in density estimates. As a result, the true trigger interval (R) for each camera deployment was incorporated into calculations of survey effort.

Camera Make	Handbook interval (s)	n shot	Real interval (s)						
Bushnell	5	All	6						
Bushnell	10	All	11						
Browning	5	5	2						
Browning	5	3	1						
Browning	10	All	13						

 Table 4. Camera trigger interval tests

'Handbook' interval refers to the trigger interval that the camera trap was programmed to take between potential bursts, in seconds (s). 'n shot' is the number of images in a burst: 3, 5 or 'All' (when no difference in real interval was observed between 3 and 5 images in a burst). 'Real interval' (R) is the interval between the end of one capture and the start of the next.

### 3.5. Density Estimates

Left truncation was initially applied at the point of greatest probability of capture per unit area. However, it became necessary to relax this rule to retain maximum data for more robust model fitting, and truncation decisions were ultimately based on exploratory analysis of the histograms of radial distances for each modelled population and testing of model fit (Ruette et al., 2003; Mason et al., 2022). Right truncation was applied where there were higher than expected detections at far distances, usually as a result of the presence of a road or trail at within the camera detection zone.

Unadjusted hazard rate models were the best fitting for two of the three modelled population datasets, and hazard rate with 2 cosine adjustments was the best fitting for black-backed jackal within the MUA (Table 5). For both snapshot methods applied, density of black-backed jackal was estimated as marginally higher on the MUA (17 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> for TA and 97 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> for RDI) than SGR (16 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> for TA and 86 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> for RDI). For all modelled populations, the RDI snapshot method produced estimates than were over 5.5 times greater than those obtained using the TA snapshot method (Table 6). High coefficients of variation (CVs) were recorded, and this imprecision was mostly attributable to variance in encounter rate (Table 6). However, detection probability accounted for a larger proportion of variance for black-backed jackal on SGR than on the MUA, potentially reflecting greater spatial heterogeneity in capture events on the MUA (Appendix S3).

**Table 5.** Model parameters for density estimation of black-backed jackal (BBJ) and brown hyaena (BH) within Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR) and a mixed used agricultural area (MUA).

Species	Site	Detection locations	Truncation distance (m) (left - right)	Distance records	Model key	Adj. (order)	Effective detection radius (m)	Availability for detection
BBJ	MUA	13	1.5 - 15	251	Hazard Rate	Cos (2)	4.31	0.479
BBJ	SGR	17	1 - 15	123	Hazard Rate	-	3.63	0.400
BH	SGR	14	1 - 13	93	Hazard Rate	-	3.54	0.306

Detection locations is the number of camera sites where species were recorded. Distance records are number of radial distances included in model after truncation. Model key is the key function used to model detection probability, and Adj. (order) is the adjustment term and order of adjustment applied; cosine (cos) and no adjustment (-), Effective detection radius (m) is the distance at which the number of observations missed up to specified distance is equal to the number of observations beyond it. Availability for detection is the proportion of time spent active in a 24-hour period.

**Table 6.** CTDS density estimates for black-backed jackal (BBJ) and brown hyaena (BH) within Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR) and a mixed used agricultural area (MUA).

Species	Site	Snapshot method	Effort	Mean encounter rate	Encounter rate variance (%)	Detection probability variance (%)	لَک / 100 km²	Bootstrap se	lcl	ucl	cv
BBJ	MUA	TA	21018387	1.19E-05	99.76	0.24	16.60	27512.99	4.95	26455.93	1566.797
BBJ	SGR	ТА	16587618	7.42E-06	96.78	3.22	15.64	6200.10	2.97	23430.25	376.439
BBJ	MUA	RDI	3615321	6.94E-05	99.26	0.74	96.51	49885.15	26.33	26084.68	489.836
BBJ	SGR	RDI	3005571	4.09E-05	95.80	4.20	86.32	34029.00	21.93	138830.61	360.796
BH	SGR	TA	13208850	6.89E-06	96.27	3.73	11.77	2080.49	4.07	46.13	171.560
BH	SGR	RDI	2380083	3.82E-05	94.00	6.00	65.33	7525.42	23.72	233.07	115.271

Snapshot method refers to the method used to calculate snapshot intervals (TA = Trigger Adjusted Effort or RDI = Recovery Driven Interval) subsequently incorporated into effort calculations. Mean encounter rate is the mean number of observations per time. encounter rate variance and detection probability variance refer to the percentage of variance attributable to encounter rate and detection probability, respectively. Bootstrap data is based on 1000 repetitions: se = standard error, IcI = lower 95% confidence interval, ucI = higher 95% confidence interval, cv = percentage coefficient of variation.
# 4. Discussion

Mesocarnivore populations were surveyed from two adjacent properties: a protected game reserve (SGR), and a mixed-use agricultural area (MUA). Using CTDS, population density was estimated for black-backed jackal on both properties, and brown hyaena on SGR. Estimates varied according to the snapshot interval method applied, with the RDI method producing greater estimates than the TA method for all modelled populations. CVs were high for all estimates, and imprecision was almost entirely attributed to spatial heterogeneity in encounter rates. Here, I discuss the validity and precision of the density estimates and consider the methodological constraints regarding some of the key aspects of the CTDS and the approaches applied in this study.

## 4.1. Validity and Precision of results

### 4.1.1. Snapshot Approaches

Before discussing the validity of results, it is vital to consider the impact of the different snapshot approaches employed in this study in the context of their respective mathematical effect on estimated densities. The TA and RDI methods calculate effective *t* based on different combinations of camera trap performance metrics (see section 2.4.2). The TA method calculates effective *t* solely from burst time ( $B_k$ ;  $t = \frac{B_k}{n_k}$ ), whereas the RDI method incorporates trigger interval (*R*) into this parameter ( $t = \frac{B_k + R}{n_k}$ ). resulting in a higher value of *t*. Across all surveys, the mean value of effective *t* was 0.4 seconds (SE ± 0.04) using the TA method, increasing to 1.5 seconds (SE ± 0.11) for the RDI method, but there was considerable variation in the degree to which each method effected the output of effective *t* between surveys. A higher *t* effectively decreases survey effort, with subsequent larger density estimates produced (Table 6). As a result, density estimates derived from calculating *t* using the RDI method.

This effect was also apparent in the original application of these snapshot approaches (McKaughan et al., 2023), where RDI produced significantly greater estimates than TA for mesocarnivore population densities in the Alldays region of Limpopo. McKaughan et al. (2023) reported considerably larger black-backed jackal densities using RDI than TA, with estimates exceeding any previously reported density within southern Africa. Congruent with the original publication of the method, this study found RDI population density estimates of brown hyaena to be implausibly high 65.3 /100 km<sup>2</sup> relative to previous estimates in similar environments, being over double that of the highest previous estimate within a protected area (Edwards et al., 2019; Table 7.1). As a result, density estimates derived from RDI snapshot methods are

likely to overestimate density, and the TA method appears to be a more robust approach, having produced estimates within the expected range for many species (Mason et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023). Further implications of the snapshot approaches employed and considerations around camera performance variability are discussed in section 4.2.1.

#### 4.1.2. Density Estimates

Although relatively high compared to previous estimates (Table 7.1), the TA derived estimate of 11.8 brown hyaena / 100 km<sup>2</sup> was among the most precise of all modelled populations, and is comparable to densities reported in other small, fenced reserves (Welch and Parker, 2016; Edwards et al., 2019), as well as larger protected conservancies (Gush et al., 2022). Abundant carrion provisioning by apex predators likely contribute to this high density (Yarnell et al., 2013; Slater and Muller, 2014), in addition to the absence of a dominant competitor, spotted hyaena (Williams et al., 2021b). High densities can also be attributable to limited dispersal capability through impermeable boundary fences (Kesch et al., 2013). Although a degree of fence permeability is highly likely (Kesch et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2021a), previous studies of collared individuals have shown no cross-boundary movement of brown hyaena on SGR (Welch et al., 2016), and we recorded no overlap of individuals captured throughout the study period between the two study sites. Assuming impermeability of fence lines, individual territory sizes may be confined within SGR to avoid overlap with conspecifics, elevating population density. This highlights the potential for rapid population growth of brown hyaena on small, fenced reserves, and could be invaluable for population recovery by enabling provision of surplus individuals for translocation to extirpated areas (Welch and Parker, 2016), particularly given the near-threatened IUCN Red List status of brown hyaena (Wiesel, 2015). However, as this estimate was derived from a survey in a small section of SGR, it is likely that this density does not reflect the overall density of brown hyaena within the entire reserve, as habitat structure, intensity of human disturbance and density of apex predators are variable across the landscape, and impact localised population abundance.

Estimates of black-backed jackal densities using the TA method were low relative to previous estimates from populations around southern Africa on both SGR (15.6 / 100 km<sup>2</sup>) and the MUA (16.6 / 100 km<sup>2</sup>; Table 7.2). Estimates using the RDI method (96.5 / 100km<sup>2</sup> on the MUA and 86.3 / 100km<sup>2</sup> on SGR), are within the range of densities previously reported in the literature for this species (Table 7.2), but as previously discussed, these results should be interpreted with extreme caution as the RDI method appears likely to overestimate density (see section 4.1.1; McKaughan et al., 2023). Despite imprecision in estimates, there is a lack of reliable density estimates for black-backed jackal in southern Africa, and these results represent some of the few reported estimates outside of protected areas (Minnie et al., 2016).

One of the few reported estimates of black-backed jackal density outside of protected areas was from a commercial farming landscape in the Alldays area of Limpopo province, and applied CTDS with the same snapshot approaches used in this study (McKaughan et al., 2023). Greater density estimates were reported for black-backed jackal in the Limpopo study (29.8 - 46.2 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> [TA], 119.1 - 184.6 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> [RDI]) than found on the MUA (McKaughan et al. 2023; see Table 7.2). This is unsurprising given the differences in resource availability across the two regions, as greater landscape heterogeneity in the Limpopo study area likely supports greater foraging opportunities on properties managed for game and small stock farming (Klare et al., 2010; Drouilly et al., 2018), as well as crop production (Williams et al., 2019), favouring generalist mesocarnivores (Roemer et al., 2009; Clavel et al., 2011).

The estimate of 15.6 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> for black-backed jackal within SGR is also low relative to other protected areas; where densities of 37 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> have been reported in the Pilanesberg National Park (Yarnell et al., 2013), and 54.9 - 97.1 / 100 km<sup>2</sup> in Hwange National Park (Loveridge and Nel, 2013). This may be a result of the intensity of suppression from apex predators within SGR, as small private game reserves often exhibit high rates of population increase in lion (Miller and Funston, 2014; Welch et al., 2016). Furthermore, the removal of two subadult male lions from the SGR study area during the survey period indicates that the lion density of was high prior to this action (per comms with reserve management), which may account for observed low densities of black-backed jackal within SGR.

Reserve or region	Country	Method	Density	Citation
Welgevonden Private Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	2.8	Williams et al., 2021a
Songimvelo Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	2.8	Williams et al., 2021a
Pilanesberg National Park	South Africa	Telemetry	2.8	Thorn et al., 2009
Central Kalahari Game Reserve	Botswana	Track counts	2.9	Winterbach et al., 2017
Ithala Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	3.2	Williams et al., 2021a
Dinokeng Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	3.8	Williams et al., 2021a
Khamab Kalahari Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	5.3	Williams et al., 2021a
Venetia Limpopo Nature Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	5.6	Williams et al., 2021a
Lapalala Wilderness	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	8.5	Williams et al., 2021a
Kwandwe Private Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	8.7	Williams et al., 2021a
Central Tuli block	Botswana	Camera Trapping SECR	10.5	Vissia et al., 2021
Madikwe Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	9.5	Williams et al., 2021a
Wonderkop Nature Reserve*	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	10.1	Williams et al., 2021a
Pilanesberg National Park	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	10.7	Williams et al., 2021a
Zingela Nature Reserve*	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	10.8	Williams et al., 2021a
KwaZulu Private Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	11.4	Williams et al., 2021a
Shamwari Private Game Reserve	South Africa	CTDS	11.8	This study (TA)
Bubye Valley Conservancy	Zimbabwe	Camera Trapping SECR	14.7	Gush et al., 2022
Atherstone Nature Reserve*	South Africa	Camera Trapping SCR	15.1	Williams et al., 2021a
Kwandwe Private Game Reserve	South Africa	Camera Trapping	15.3	Welch and Parker, 2016
Okonjima Nature Reserve	Namibia	Camera Trapping	24.0	Edwards et al., 2019
Shamwari Private Game Reserve	South Africa	CTDS	65.3	This study (RDI)

Table 7.1. Brown hyaena densities per 100 km<sup>2</sup> in protected areas

Results of this study are shown in grey, with trigger adjusted (TA) and recovery drive interval (RDI) snapshot methods indicated. Protected sites that do not contain lion are indicated by an asterisk (\*). Williams et al., 2021a estimates are derived from modelling approaches that considered fences impermeable.

Reserve or region	Protection status	Country	Method	Density	Citation
Telperion Nature Reserve	Protected	South Africa	REM	2.0 - 5.0	Melville and Strauss, 2021
Skeleton Coast	Protected	Namibia	Strip Counts	7	Nel et al., 2013
Shamwari Private Game Reserve	Protected	South Africa	CTDS	15.6	This study (TA)
Mixed Use Farmland, Eastern Cape	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	16.6	This study (TA)
Commercial Farmland, Limpopo	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	24.8	McKaughan et al., 2023 (Hb)
Commercial Farmland, Limpopo	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	29.8	McKaughan et al., 2023 (TA)
Benfontein Game Farm	Protected*	South Africa	Telemetry Group Size	32.5	Klare et al., 2010
Giant's Castle Nature Reserve	Protected	South Africa	Telemetry	35.0 - 40.0	Rowe-Rowe, 1982
Commercial Farmland, Limpopo	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	36.5	McKaughan et al., 2023 (Hb)
	Destanted		Line Transect Distance	37.0	Yarnell et al., 2013
Pilanesberg National Park	Protected	South Africa	Sampling		
Rooipoort Nature Reserve	Protected*	South Africa	Relative Abundance	42.9	Klare et al., 2010
Commercial Farmland, Limpopo	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	46.2	McKaughan et al., 2023 (TA)
Serengeti National Park	Protected	Tanzania	Transect Counts	50.0	Waser, 1980
Hwange National Park	Protected	Zimbabwe	Not specified	54.0 – 97.0	Loveridge and Nel, 2013
Shamwari Private Game Reserve	Protected	South Africa	CTDS	86.3	This study (RDI)
Mixed Use Farmland, Eastern Cape	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	96.5	This study (RDI)
			Line Transect Distance	115.2	Varnell et al. 2013
Mankwe Wildlife Reserve*	Protected	South Africa	Sampling	110.2	
Commercial Farmland, Limpopo	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	119.1	McKaughan et al., 2023 (RDI)
Commercial Farmland, Limpopo	Non-protected	South Africa	CTDS	184.6	McKaughan et al., 2023 (RDI)
Sandwich Harbour	Protected	Namibia	Strip Counts	291.0	Nel et al., 2013
Cape Cross	Protected	Namibia	Strip Counts	1305.0	Nel et al., 2013

### Table 7.2. Black-backed jackal densities per 100 km<sup>2</sup>

Results of this study are shown in grey. Protected sites that do not contain lion are indicated by an asterisk (\*). Snapshot methods used in this study and McKaughan et al. (2023) are indicated: trigger adjusted (TA) and recovery driven interval (RDI), in addition to handbook interval (Hb) method based on defining snapshot moments according to discrete seconds intervals (e.g. t = 1s), as described in original CTDS approach outlined by Howe et al. (2017).

### 4.1.3. Land Use Comparison

Although there is likely to be a degree of fence permeability between the MUA and SGR, the modelled mesocarnivore populations on each study site were considered discrete due to thorough fence inspection and maintenance, as well as previous findings of no trans-boundary movement of collared brown hyaena on SGR (Welch et al., 2016).

Black-backed jackal population densities were compared between the protected SGR and non-protected MUA study sites, with slightly higher densities recorded on the MUA than on SGR, regardless of the snapshot approach applied. However, these estimates were extremely imprecise with significant overlap in confidence intervals, making it difficult to infer meaningful conclusions regarding relative abundances on each property (Table 6). Higher estimates outside of the protected area would be unsurprising considering the lack of top-down control by apex predators outside of the reserve (Prugh et al., 2009). Additionally, periodic hunting on the MUA may contribute to elevated densities, as compensatory breeding responses, reduced reproductive suppression of subordinate individuals and immigration into vacant territories have been shown to cumulate in increasing local populations (Nattrass and Conradie, 2013; Wielgus and Peebles, 2014; Minnie et al., 2016).

Comparison between densities of brown hyaena between the two study sites was not possible due to insufficient captures on the MUA, which is likely a reflection of a low population density. It is expected that brown hyaena densities are higher on a protected area where carrion provisioning by hunting activities of large carnivores provide ample scavenging opportunities (Yarnell et al., 2013; Slater and Muller, 2014). While black-backed jackal are also known to scavenge carrion from larger predators, there is disagreement as to whether carrion provisioning influences black-backed jackal diet (Brassine and Parker, 2012; Yarnell et al., 2013), and previous dietary analysis on SGR has indicated limited scavenging behaviour of the black-backed jackal population within the reserve (Forbes, 2011). This suggests that apex predators do not provide the same ecological benefit to black-backed jackal that is observed in brown hyaena on SGR, congruent with prior investigations in the Northern Cape that reported a comparable facilitative and suppressive effect of apex predators on these mesocarnivore species (Yarnell et al., 2013).

The suppressive effect of lion on black-backed jackal population abundance is further supported by analysis of activity patterns, wherein a peak activity time for black-backed jackal around 00:00 was observed within SGR, as opposed to a strongly crepuscular pattern in the MUA (Figure 4). The noctural activity patterns of black-backed jackal within SGR can be explained by avoidance of the crepuscular peak active time of lions (Hayward and Hayward, 2007; Appendix S4). However this is unlikely to explain the diurnal activity of black-backed

jackal observed within SGR that was not reflected in popualtions on the MUA (Figure 4). Considering the evidence for limited scavenging behaviour of black-backed jackal within SGR (Forbes, 2011), it is unlikely that individuals are more active during the day to exploit scavenging opportunities provided by lions in SGR (Fourie et al., 2015; Minnie, 2016). Lower levels of human activity on SGR may account for the difference in diurnal activity between the two populations, as black-backed jackal have been found to be less active during the day in areas of higher human persecution and disturbance (Hiscocks and Perrin, 1988; Kaunda, 2000; Kitchen et al., 2000; Green et al., 2022). However, further research into the degree of temporal avoidance observed in mesocarnivores in response to both intraguild and anthropogenic pressures is required to validate this assumption (Du Plessis et al., 2015). Furthermore, additional factors can influence black-backed jackal activity patterns (Ferguson et al., 1988; Kaunda, 2000; Botha et al., 2022; Wallin, 2022), thorough investigation of which was beyond the scope of this study.

The relative density estimates and variable patterns of temporal activity between the two populations of black-backed jackal on the MUA and SGR reveal how differential pressures can influence behaviour and density across different land uses. Although imprecision in estimates limits meaningful inferences that can be made about relative mesocarnivore densities from the results of CTDS analysis, temporal activity analysis reveals distinct patterns of behaviour that reflect differential pressures on each population.

## 4.2. Methodological Considerations

## 4.2.1. Site-Specific Snapshot Intervals

Our analysis of camera trap performance supported previous findings of inconsistencies between handbook specifications and real performance metrics (Corlatti et al., 2020; Mason et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023), highlighting the importance of evaluating performance when applying CTDS. Inconsistencies were identified between the true duration of trigger intervals and those stated in the handbook specifications (Table 4), and variable burst times were recorded not only between camera trap makes, but also individual units (Figure 5). These inconsistencies are speculated to be due to remaining battery level, unit age or condition of the camera trap. Consequently, calculating effective *t* based on mean performances of all surveys may underestimate survey effort for units with shorter burst times, and overestimate survey effort for those with longer burst times. By calculating snapshot intervals on a site-specific basis, variation in camera trap performance between surveys can be identified and accounted for to determine overall sampling effort more accurately. Due to non-uniform camera trap settings across survey sites, comparison of site-specific versus survey-mean

snapshot intervals was not possible. Snapshot intervals based on mean performance of camera traps with the same settings combinations (i.e. number of images in a burst and interval duration) were considered (Appendix S6), but the site-specific approach was considered to produce more accurate reflection of survey effort given the variation in camera performance metrics between sample sites. Furthermore, density estimates were not considerably different using this approach, and imprecision was still high (Appendix S6). Further empirical testing of the impact of this approach should be undertaken to evaluate the impact of site-specific snapshot interval calculations on density estimation and variance.

A key advantage of site-specific snapshot intervals is the inclusion of a broader range of camera trap units in monitoring efforts, regardless of variation in performance, setting limitations or angle of detection of units. In this study, two camera trap units of different makes were utilised (Bushnell Single Core 119938C; Browning Recon Force Extreme BTC-7FHD-PX), between which significantly different effective detection angles were measured. Sitespecific intervals allowed us to account for this disparity, as well as variation in camera trap performance. While using uniform camera trap models may be logistically preferable due to standardised detectability, site-specific snapshot calculations can increase the pertinence of CTDS for population monitoring when researchers have limited resources available. Furthermore, this approach can reduce the impact of common problems associated with camera trapping. For example, frequent false detections of vegetation or non-target species (i.e. livestock) regularly result in battery failure or memory card saturation between site visits (Cusack et al., 2015b; Swanson et al., 2015; Jumeau et al., 2017; Meek et al., 2019; Mason et al., 2022), undermining density estimation by shortening survey effort in habitats with greater risk of repeated false triggers. Site-specific snapshot intervals can reduce the impact of these issues by allowing researchers to customise camera trap settings based on individual survey site characteristics, conserving battery life and ensuring continuous sampling between site visits.

Although logistically beneficial, the use of variable settings between study sites can significantly impact results when using different snapshot methods to calculate survey effort in CTDS. Due to incorporation of trigger intervals, the RDI method produced effective t values that were, on average, 6.3 times greater than those obtained using the TA method at the same survey site. The mathematical impact of increasing effective t is to effectively decrease survey effort, which subsequently elevates density outputs. Camera traps programmed to have longer trigger intervals resulted in significantly larger (up to 45.8 times) effective t values when calculated using the RDI method than the TA method, while camera traps with very short trigger intervals recorded only slight differences (Appendix Table S2). Similarly, rapid burst times and short burst sequences at some survey sites resulted in extremely low effective t

using the TA method (t = 0.05 - 0.38, as opposes to RDI: t = 1.66 - 4.25), which may have overestimated effort and resulted in negative bias in TA-derived estimates. Future application of CTDS using trigger-adjusted snapshot intervals should aim to use larger numbers of images in a burst to avoid negative bias from extremely low effective t. However, when shorter burst sequences are preferred or necessary, incorporating trigger intervals into snapshot interval calculations through the RDI method could mitigate the negative bias resulting from shorter burst times, but this remains to be tested.

#### 4.2.2. Encounter Rate Variability

Encounter rate variance is considered the most prevalent source of variance in CTDS (Fewster et al., 2009; Howe et al., 2017), and spatial heterogeneity in encounter rates was responsible for most of the imprecision in this study (Appendix S2). This effect was primarily attributable to bias from the presence of fine-scale habitat features within the camera FOV, as a high number of capture events were recorded at sites with roads, game trails or fence lines, known to be preferentially used by many carnivore species (Mann et al., 2015; Cusack et al., 2015b, Swanepoel et al., 2016; Tamwar et al., 2021). Random camera placements coincidentally occurring on roads or game trails are considered unlikely to cause significant bias in estimates, providing they have not been intentionally targeted and are sampled in proportion to their occurrence within the landscape (Buckland et al., 2010). However, there is evidence to suggest that random camera placement may have underestimated population density of brown hyaena on the MUA study site, as capture rates from camera traps deployed on roads and trails were higher than those captured within the CTDS camera survey grid. At least two individuals were identified on the MUA by opportunistic cameras, whereas only one brown hyaena was captured on the property within the grid survey. This may be a result of few sampling locations, and the effect of bias from fine scale habitat features may be alleviated by increasing the number of survey locations (Cappelle et al., 2021). Lower CVs recorded for populations modelled on SGR could be indicative of the greater number of sampling locations and trap nights reducing imprecision from encounter rate variance on SGR than the MUA (Table 1). However, McKaughan et al. (2023) found no improvement in precision when using a migrating grid with more sample sites, deployed for shorter durations, compared to a static grid. For maximising the value of CTDS derived density estimates, future studies should aim to investigate ways survey design can improve precision in estimates, particularly regarding reducing the impact of encounter rate variance caused by significant spatial heterogeneity in capture events.

Considerable challenges were also encountered during fieldwork regarding camera placement due to a distinctive and characteristic lack of trees or other stable natural mounting points in the study region. Although some deviation from points is expected and unlikely to bias estimates (Howe et al., 2017), practical difficulties led to many instances of extreme deviation of camera placement from the pre-determined points. Although efforts to ensure displaced cameras were placed in similar habitats to the original point location, alternative camera placements may have inadvertently increased capture rates of species that preferentially use small-scale landscape features where cameras could be mounted, such as trees or fence lines, leading to positive bias in encounter rates (Kolowski and Forrester, 2017; Nattrass et al., 2017; Mason et al., 2022). Evaluating how localised site characteristics and camera displacements can cause bias and impact the validity and precision of results should be further investigated in future applications of CTDS.

Encounter rate variability remains the primary contributing factor to imprecision in CTDS, and key limitation of the method's efficacy for estimating densities with sufficient confidence to inform management decisions, particularly for species that exhibit strong spatial trends (Fewster et al., 2009; Palencia et al., 2021a). Adaptations of CTDS have achieved greater precision when modelling encounter rates as a function of environmental predictors (Delisle et al., 2023), which additionally improves applicability of CTDS to make population interferences over large scales or for heterogeneously distributed species (Mason et al., 2022). Stratified sampling designs have also been suggested to reduce sampling bias and increase precision when using traditional distance sampling or other unmarked density estimation methods (Fewster et al., 2009; Foster and Harmsen, 2012), although this remains to be tested on CTDS. Further development and evaluation of CTDS may provide insight into ways in which study design may reduce bias and uncertainty in estimates.

### 4.2.3. CTDS for Multi-Species Surveying

The ability of CTDS to estimate densities of multiple species within one survey is highly advantageous for large scale population monitoring (Bessone et al., 2020; Mason et al., 2022; McKaughan et al., 2023). However, species and population level variation in parameters included in CTDS can significantly influence density outputs, and applying uniform analytical decisions across multi-species or comparable population surveys may invalidate results. Left truncation distance is one such challenge to consider, applied in CTDS to account for few detections at short distances due to animals passing below or too close to the camera (Howe et al., 2017). Left truncation distance must be considered carefully, as removing data points outside of truncation distances affects how the slope of the probability detection function is extrapolated to zero. Left truncating at the lower 20% of captures has been recommended (Buckland et al., 2001), but this may be inappropriate for all species. For example, smaller, or faster moving species are more likely to pass below the camera field of view undetected,

resulting a larger blind spot at shorter distances than for larger species. Although left truncation decisions were initially applied at the distance at which detection probability peaked for each species (Ruette et al., 2003; Mason et al., 2022), this rule had to be relaxed due to small sample sizes available, and left truncation was ultimately applied based on exploratory analysis of data distributions and testing model fit. As a result, left-truncation distances were lower than expected, which may have overestimated proportion of captures at close distances and potentially introduced negative bias in estimates (Buckland et al., 2001).

Differential responses to novel stimuli can also induce bias in density estimates using CTDS (Buckland et al., 2001), which can vary considerably between species and populations. For example, brown hyaena are known to frequently inspect or damage camera traps (Apps and Mcnutt, 2018; McKaughan et al., 2023), and despite removing images where reactivity to the camera was evident, low effective detection distances and a greater contribution of detection probability variance to overall variance are likely indicative of an attraction towards cameras, potentially contributing to upward bias in density estimates (Table 6; Apps and Mcnutt, 2018). Bias in density estimates can also occur from differential population responses to novel stimuli as a result of learned behavioural adaptations towards anthropogenic activities. A higher proportion of variance was attributed to detection probability for the black-backed jackal population on SGR than the MUA, potentially indicating a lesser negative response to novel stimul (i.e. camera traps) on the protected landscape than on the farmland where populations have been subject to persecution (Nattrass et al., 2017).

In consideration of the anthropogenic threats experienced by black-backed jackal populations on the MUA study area in the past, it is conceivable that individuals in this study site exhibit greater vigilence in response to novel stimuli which would account for lower proportion of variance attributed to detection probability than on SGR. The patterns of temporal activity patterns of black-backed jackal across the two study sites also reflect this, showing evidence of temporal avoidance of humans on the MUA that was not mirrored in the SGR population (Figure 4; see section 4.1.3). Reduced vigilance towards anthropogenic stimuli within protected areas will likely increase instances of attraction to the camera traps, potentially resulting in positive bias in encounter rates and greater loss of data due to reactivity. Furthermore, as animals are only considered available for detection when they are active in CTDS, temporal availability for detection is used to adjust the total duration camera traps were active at each site ( $T_k$ ). Therefore, consideration of population-level responses to different land uses and anthropogenic pressures should be considered when applying CTDS, particularly for species that demonstrate high behavioural plasticity. Inability to monitor multiple species populations is a key limitation of capture—mark recapture (CMR) density estimation techniques, and practical limitations of these methods may limit their application in some areas. CMR methods using camera traps rely upon obtaining sufficient captures of individuals that can be clearly identified, which often depends on using camera models with white or xenon flash to provide high quality images (Rovero and Zimmerman, 2016). This approach is often unfavourable for use on small, private game reserves, as the conspicuous presence of cameras may be undesirable for tourist operators. Furthermore, high visibility flash cameras are more disruptive to wildlife and may fail to obtain sufficient captures for 'trap-shy' species or populations (Wegge et al., 2006; Rovero et al. 2013; Meek et al. 2014). Using cameras with low, or no-glow flash settings on camera traps is recommended for CTDS to reduce bias from animals reacting to the camera, and therefore may be more applicable to use on protected areas where minimising disruption to tourists and wildlife is a priority (Ehlers Smith et al., 2018). CTDS also has the advantage of being able to utilise all captured images where species can be identified, regardless of image quality, increasing applicability to faster moving or less abundant populations, in addition to allowing simultaneously surveying of multiple marked and unmarked species, increasing efficiency of monitoring.

# 5. Conclusion

Despite high imprecision, the densities reported here are some of the few available estimates for southern African mesocarnivores, particularly outside of protected areas, and offer insight into mesocarnivore population statuses on protected and non-protected private landscapes in the Eastern Cape of South Africa. Density estimates revealed variable responses of species and populations according to distinct anthropogenic and interspecific pressures, which have implications for conservation and management of populations.

Small private game reserves can be vital contributors to national population recovery of threatened species, such as brown hyaena (Child et al., 2016; Wiesel, 2015), However, effective and continuous monitoring of species perceived to be a threat to people or livelihoods outside of protected areas must be implemented on small, fenced reserves to avoid negative interactions emerging should individuals transverse fences (Wiesel, 2015; Lindsey et al., 2013; Thorn et al., 2015; Banasiak et al., 2021a; Whitehouse-Tedd et al., 2021). While working landscapes have the potential to support mesocarnivore populations, high imprecision in densities reported in this study make drawing conclusions about relative abundances or landscape level impacts on densities challenging. Additionally, the MUA study site covered a small area and relatively homogenous land use, and therefore fails to offer insight into broad scale population densities across the range of working landscapes in the region. Expansion of the study to include multiple properties would allow insight into the impact of different land uses and anthropogenic pressures on mesocarnivore populations, improving our knowledge of the drivers of mesocarnivore densities and identifying key conservation and management challenges in this region.

Camera trapping methods to estimate population densities of unmarked species can present a cost efficient and robust system to monitor populations of multiple species simultaneously, and testing of these methods under different scenarios and environmental contexts is vital to ensure the level of precision achieved offers meaningful ecological insight. Validation and development of CTDS can enable managers to make evidence-based decisions regarding population management to ensure continued ecological integrity and human-wildlife coexistence. The site-specific approach to defining snapshot intervals demonstrated in this study highlights the potential for flexibility in CTDS study design, potentially allowing the method to be incorporated into established, ongoing game monitoring regimes within protected areas. While CTDS has the potential to allow widespread and concurrent monitoring of multiple species on a range of landscapes, population and species level variation should be considered in future application, and further design-based testing of is required to improve precision. Future studies should aim to evaluate CTDS against known population sizes or established density estimation techniques to further validate results.

# References

Agha, M., Batter, T., Bolas, E.C., Collins, A.C., Gomes da Rocha, D., Monteza-Moreno, C.M., Preckler-Quisquater, S., Sollmann, R., 2018. A review of wildlife camera trapping trends across Africa. African Journal of Ecology 56(4), 694–701.

Allen, M.L., Peterson, B., Krofel, M., 2018. No respect for apex carnivores: Distribution and activity patterns of honey badgers in the Serengeti. Mammalian Biology 89, 90–94.

Anile, S., Amico, C., Ragni, B., 2012. Population density estimation of the European wildcat (*Felis silvestris silvestris*) in Sicily using camera trapping. Wildlife Biology in Practice 8(1), 1–12.

Anile, S., Ragni, B., Randi, E., Mattucci, F., Rovero, F., 2014. Wildcat population density on the Etna volcano, Italy: a comparison of density estimation methods. Journal of Zoology 293(4), 252-261.

Apps, P., Mcnutt, J.W., 2018. Are camera traps fit for purpose? A rigorous, reproducible and realistic test of camera trap performance. African Journal of Ecology 56(4), 710–720.

Avenant, N.L., Du Plessis, J.J., 2008. Sustainable small stock farming and ecosystem conservation in southern Africa: A role for small mammals? Mammalia 72, 258–263.

Bailey, K.M., Mccleery, R.A., Binford, M.W., Zweig, C., Bailey, K.M., Mccleery, R.A., Binford, M.W., Zweig, C., 2016. Land-cover change within and around protected areas in a biodiversity hotspot. Journal of Land Use Science 11(2), 154–176.

Baker, A.D., Leberg, P.L., 2018. Impacts of human recreation on carnivores in protected areas. PLoS One 13(4), e0195436.

Balme, G.A., Lindsey, P.A., Swanepoel, L.H., Hunter, L.T.B., 2014. Failure of research to address the rangewide conservation needs of large carnivores: Leopards in South Africa as a case study. Conservation Letters 7(1), 3–11.

Balme, G.A., Slotow, R., Hunter, L.T.B., 2010. Edge effects and the impact of non-protected areas in carnivore conservation: Leopards in the Phinda-Mkhuze Complex, South Africa. Animal Conservation 13(3), 315–323.

Banasiak, N.M., Hayward, M.W., Kerley, G.I.H., 2021a. Emerging human-carnivore conflict following large carnivore reintroductions highlights the need to lift baselines. African Journal of Wildlife Research 51(1), 136–143.

Banasiak, N.M., Hayward, M.W., Kerley, G.I.H., 2021b. Ten years on: have large carnivore reintroductions to the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa, worked? African Journal of Wildlife Research 51(1), 111-126.

Bashant, J., Somers, M., Swanepoel, L., Dalerum, F., 2020. Facilitation or Competition? Effects of Lions on Brown Hyaenas and Leopards. Diversity 12(9), 325.

Begg, C., Begg, K., Kingdon, J., 2013. *Mellivora capensis* Ratel (Honey Badger). In: Kingdon, J., Hoffmann, M. (Eds.), The Mammals of Africa. V. Carnivores, Pangolins, Equids and Rhinoceroses. Bloomsbury, London, UK., 119–125.

Bell, D., Roberton, S., Hunter, P.R., 2004. Animal origins of SARS coronavirus: possible links with the international trade in small carnivores. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 359(1447), 1107–1114.

Bessone, M., Kühl, H.S., Hohmann, G., Herbinger, I., Paul N Goran, K., Asanzi, P., Da Costa, P.B., Dérozier, V., Fotsing, E.D.B., Ikembelo Beka, B., Iyomi, M.D., Iyatshi, I.B., Kafando, P., Kambere, M.A., Moundzoho, D.B., Wanzalire, M.L.K., Fruth, B., Paul, K., Papy, N.G., Pedro, A., Costa, B. Da, Dérozier, V., Fotsing, E.D.B., Ikembelo, B., Mpongo, B., Iyomi, D.I., Kafando, P., Kambere, M.A., Moundzoho, D.B., Wanzalire, M.L.K., Fruth, B., 2020. Drawn out of the shadows: Surveying secretive forest species with camera trap distance sampling. Journal of Applied Ecology 57(5), 963–974.

Bischof, R., Ali, H., Kabir, M., Hameed, S., Nawaz, M.A., 2014. Being the underdog: an elusive small carnivore uses space with prey and time without enemies. Journal of Zoology 293(1), 40–48.

Blaum, N., Rossmanith, E., Jeltsch, F., 2007a. Land use affects rodent communities in Kalahari savannah rangelands. African Journal of Ecology 45(2), 189–195.

Blaum, N., Rossmanith, E., Popp, A., Jeltsch, F., 2007b. Shrub encroachment affects mammalian carnivore abundance in arid rangelands. Acta Oecologica 31(1), 86–92.

Blaum, N., Tietjen, B., Rossmanith, E., 2010. Impact of livestock husbandry on small- and mediumsized Carnivores in Kalahari Savannah Rangelands. The Journal of Wildlife Management 73(1), 60– 67.

Bond, I., Child, B., de la Harpe, D., Jones, B., Barnes, J., Anderson, H., 2004. Private land contribution to conservation in South Africa. In: Child, B. (Eds.), Parks in Transition: Biodiversity, Rural Development, and the Bottom Line. Earthscan, London, 29–62.

Borchers, D.L., Buckland, S.T., Stephens, W.E., Zucchini, W., 2002. Estimating animal abundance: Closed populations. Springer London.

Botha, A.E., Bruns, A.C., le Roux, A., 2022. The spatial ecology of black-backed jackals (*Canis mesomelas*) in a protected mountainous grassland area. African Zoology 57(1), 43–55.

Brassine, M.C., Parker, D.M., 2012. Does the presence of large predators affect the diet of a mesopredator? African Journal of Ecology 50(2), 243–246.

Brink, C.W., Thomson, R.L., Amar, A., Girardello, M. and Santangeli, A., 2021. Prevalence and drivers of poison use by South African commercial farmers and perceptions of alternative livestock protection measures. Ambio, 50, 1211-1221.

Brooke, Z.M., Bielby, J., Nambiar, K., Carbone, C., 2014. Correlates of research effort in carnivores: body size, range size and diet matter. PLoS One 9(4), e93195.

Brooks, T.M., Bakarr, M.I., Boucher, T., da Fonseca, G.A.B., Hilton-Taylor, C., Hoekstra, J.M., Moritz, T., Olivieri, S., Parrish, J., Pressey, R.L., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Sechrest, W., Stattersfield, A., Strahm, W., Stuart, S.N., 2004. Coverage provided by the global protected-area system: is it enough? Bioscience 54(12), 1081–1091.

Brooks, T.M., Mittermeier, R.A., Da Fonseca, G.A., Gerlach, J., Hoffmann, M., Lamoreux, J.F., Mittermeier, C.G., Pilgrim, J.D., Rodrigues, A.S., 2006. Global biodiversity conservation priorities. Science 313(5783), 58–61.

Buckland, S., Anderson, D., Burnham, K., Laake, J., Borchers, D., Thomas, L., 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press.

Burton, A. C., Neilson, E., Moreira, D., Ladle, A., Steenweg, R., Fisher, J. T., Bayne, E., 2015. Wildlife camera trapping: a review and recommendations for linking surveys to ecological processes. Journal of Applied Ecology 52(3), 675-685.

Byrom, A.E., Craft, M.E., Durant, S.M., Nkwabi, A.J.K., Metzger, K., Hampson, K., Mduma, S.A.R., Forrester, G.J., Ruscoe, W.A., Reed, D.N., Bukombe, J., Mchetto, J., Sinclair, A.R.E., 2014. Episodic outbreaks of small mammals influence predator community dynamics in an east African savanna ecosystem. Oikos 123(8), 1014–1024.

Cappelle, N., Després-Einspenner, M.L., Howe, E.J., Boesch, C., Kühl, H.S., 2019. Validating camera trap distance sampling for chimpanzees. American Journal of Primatology 81(3), e22962.

Cappelle, N., Howe, E.J., Boesch, C., Kühl, H.S., 2021. Estimating animal abundance and effortprecision relationship with camera trap distance sampling. Ecosphere 12(1), e03299.

Caravaggi, A., Zaccaroni, M., Riga, F., Schai-Braun, S. C., Dick, J. T. A., Montgomery, W. I., and Reid, N. (2016). An invasive-native mammalian species replacement process captured by camera trap survey random encounter models. Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation 2(1), 45–58.

Carbone, C., Gittleman, J.L., 2002. A common rule for the scaling of carnivore density. Science 295(5563), 2273–2276.

Carbone, C., Christie, S., Conforti, K., Coulson, T., Franklin, N., Ginsberg, J.R., Griffiths, M., Holden, J., Kawanishi, K., Kinnaird, M., Laidlaw, R., Lynam, A., Macdonald, D.W., Martyr, D., McDougal, C., Nath, L., O'Brien, T., Seidensticker, J., Smith, D.J.L., Sunquist, M., Tilson, R., Wan Shahruddin., 2001. The use of photographic rates to estimate densities of tigers and other cryptic mammals. Animal Conservation Forum 4(1), 75-79.

Caro, T.M., Stoner, C.J., 2003. The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. Biological Conservation 110(1), 67–75.

Caruso, N., Manfredi, C., Vidal, E.M.L., Casanaveo, E.B., Lucherinio, M., 2012. First density estimation of two sympatric small cats, *Leopardus colocolo* and *Leopardus geoffroyi*, in a shrubland area of central Argentina. Annales Zoologici Fennici (Finnish Zoological and Botanical Publishing Board) 49(3), 181–191.

Castley, J.G., Boshoff, A.F., Kerley, G.I.H., 2001. Compromising South Africa's natural biodiversityinappropriate herbivore introductions. South African Journal of Science 97(9), 344-348.

Caullier, G., 2019. Digikam. version 6.2.0; www.digikam.org

Chase Grey, J.N., Kent, V.T., Hill, R.A., 2013. Evidence of a high density population of harvested leopards in a montane environment. PLoS One 8(12), e82832.

Child, M.F., Roxburgh, L., Do Linh San, E., Raimondo, D., Davies-Mostert, H.T., 2016. The red list of mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho. South African National Biodiversity Institute and Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

Ćirović, D., Penezić, A., Krofel, M., 2016. Jackals as cleaners: Ecosystem services provided by a mesocarnivore in human-dominated landscapes. Biological Conservation 199, 51–55.

Clavel, J., Julliard, R., Devictor, V., 2011. Worldwide decline of specialist species: toward a global functional homogenization? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9(4), 222–228.

Clements, H.S., Baum, J., Cumming, G.S., 2016. Money and motives: an organizational ecology perspective on private land conservation. Biological Conservation 197, 108–115.

Clements, H.S., Kerley, G.I.H., Cumming, G.S., De Vos, A., Cook, C.N., 2019. Privately protected areas provide key opportunities for the regional persistence of large- and medium-sized mammals. Journal of Applied Ecology 56(3), 537–546.

Codron, D., Radloff, F.G.T., Codron, J., Kerley, G.I.H., Tambling, C.J., 2018. Meso-carnivore niche expansion in response to an apex predator's reintroduction - a stable isotope approach. African Journal of Wildlife Research 48(1), 013004.

Cooper, R.L., Skinner, J.D., 1979. Importance of Termites in the diet of the Aardwolf *Proteles Cristatus* in South Africa. South African Journal of Zoology 14(1), 5–8.

Corlatti, L., Sivieri, S., Sudolska, B., Giacomelli, S., Pedrotti, L., 2020. A field test of unconventional camera trap distance sampling to estimate abundance of marmot populations. Wildlife Biology 2020(4), 1–11.

Cousins, J.A., Sadler, J.P., Evans, J., 2008. Exploring the role of private wildlife ranching as a conservation tool in South Africa: stakeholder perspectives. Ecology and Society 13(2), 43.

Cowling, R. and Kerley, G.I.H., 2002. Impacts of elephants on the flora and vegetation of subtropical thicket in the Eastern Cape. In: Elephant Conservation and Management in the Eastern Cape. Workshop proceedings, Terrestrial Ecological Research Unit, 35, 55-72.

Creel, S., Becker, M.S., Durant, S.M., M'soka, J., Matandiko, W., Dickman, A.J., Christianson, D., Dröge, E., Mweetwa, T., Pettorelli, N., Rosenblatt, E., Schuette, P., Woodroffe, R., Bashir, S., Beudels-Jamar, R.C., Blake, S., Borner, M., Breitenmoser, C., Broekhuis, F., Cozzi, G., Davenport, T.R.B., Deutsch, J., Dollar, L., Dolrenry, S., Douglas-Hamilton, I., Fitzherbert, E., Foley, C., Hazzah, L., Henschel, P., Hilborn, R., Hopcraft, J.G.C., Ikanda, D., Jacobson, A., Joubert, B., Joubert, D., Kelly, M.S., Lichtenfeld, L., Mace, G.M., Milanzi, J., Mitchell, N., Msuha, M., Muir, R., Nyahongo, J., Pimm,

S., Purchase, G., Schenck, C., Sillero-Zubiri, C., Sinclair, A.R.E., Songorwa, A.N., Stanley-Price, M., Tehou, C.A., Trout, C., Wall, J., Wittemyer, G., Zimmermann, A., 2013. Conserving large populations of lions – the argument for fences has holes. Ecology Letters 16(11), 1413-e3.

Creel, S.R., Creel, N.M., 1996. Limitation of African wild dogs by competition with larger carnivores. Conservation Biology 10(2), 526–538.

Creel, S.R., 2001. Four factors modifying the effect of competition on carnivore population dynamics as illustrated by African wild dogs. Conservation Biology 15(1), 271–274.

Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund (CEPF), 2010. Ecosystem profile. Maputaland-Pondoland-Albany biodiversity hotspot. Conservation International Southern African Hotspots Programme, Cape Town.

Crookes, D.J., 2023. Ecology, opportunity or threat? Drivers of the caracal (*Caracal caracal*) population decline in South Africa. African Journal of Ecology, 61(4), 768-780.

Crooks, K.R., 2002. Relative sensitivities of mammalian carnivores to habitat fragmentation conservation biology 16(2), 488–502.

Crooks, K.R., Burdett, C.L., Theobald, D.M., Rondinini, C., Boitani, L., 2011. Global patterns of fragmentation and connectivity of mammalian carnivore habitat. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 366(1578), 2642–2651.

Curveira-Santos, G., Pedroso, N.M., Barros, A.L. and Santos-Reis, M., 2019. Mesocarnivore community structure under predator control: Unintended patterns in a conservation context. PloS one, 14(1), e0210661.

Curveira-Santos, G., Sutherland, C., Santos-Reis, M. and Swanepoel, L.H., 2021a. Responses of carnivore assemblages to decentralized conservation approaches in a South African landscape. Journal of Applied Ecology, 58(1), 92-103.

Curveira-Santos, G., Sutherland, C., Tenan, S., Fernández-Chacón, A., Mann, G.K.H., Pitman, R.T., Swanepoel, L.H., 2021b. Mesocarnivore community structuring in the presence of Africa's apex predator. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 288(1946), 20202379.

Curveira-Santos, G., Gigliotti, L., Silva, A.P., Sutherland, C., Foord, S., Santos-Reis, M. and Swanepoel, L.H., 2022. Broad aggressive interactions among African carnivores suggest intraguild killing is driven by more than competition. Ecology, 103(2), e03600.

Cusack, J. J., Swanson, A., Coulson, T., Packer, C., Carbone, C., Dickman, A. J., Kosmala, M., Lintott, C., Rowcliffe, J. M., 2015a. Applying a random encounter model to estimate lion density from camera traps in Serengeti National Park, Tanzania. The Journal of Wildlife Management 79(6), 1014–1021.

Cusack, J.J., Dickman, A.J., Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., Macdonald, D.W., Coulson, T., 2015b. Random versus game trail-based camera trap placement strategy for monitoring terrestrial mammal communities. PloS one 10(5), e0126373.

Dalerum, F., Le Roux, A., de Vries, J., Kamler, J., Page-Nicholson, S., Stuart, C., Stuart, M., Wilson, B., Do Linh San, E., 2016. A conservation assessment of *Otocyon megalotis*. In: Child, M., Roxburgh,

L., Do Linh San, E., Raimondo, D., Davies-Mostert, H. (Eds.), The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho. South African National Biodiversity Institute and Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

Davis, R.S., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W.O., Stone, E.L., Uzal, A., Yarnell, R.W., 2023. Habitat structure and the presence of large carnivores shape the site use of an understudied small carnivore: caracal ecology in a miombo woodland. Mammal Research 68(1), 113–120.

Delisle, Z.J., Miller, D.L., Swihart, R.K., 2023. Modelling density surfaces of intraspecific classes using camera trap distance sampling. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 14(5), 1287-1298

De Vos, A., Clements, H.S., Biggs, D., Cumming, G.S., 2019. The dynamics of proclaimed privately protected areas in South Africa over 83 years. Conservation Letters 12(6), e12644.

Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA), 2013. Long-term adaptation scenarios flagship research programme (LTAS) for South Africa. Climate Trends and Scenarios for South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa.

Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DEAT), 2005. South Africa country study: situational assessment undertaken to inform South Africa's National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (NBSAP).

Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR), 2013. Land Audit as Approved by Cabinet September 5 2013, Pretoria, South Africa. Available from: https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis\_document/201409/ruraldevelopmentandlandreformannualre port2012-2013.pdf [Accessed: 02/03/2023]

Department of Statistics South Africa (DSSA), 2021. The nature of South Africa's protected area estate. Available from: https://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=14732 [Accessed: 02/03/2023]

Di Minin, E., Slotow, R., Hunter, L.T.B.B., Montesino Pouzols, F., Toivonen, T., Verburg, P.H., Leader-Williams, N., Petracca, L., Moilanen, A., 2016. Global priorities for national carnivore conservation under land use change. Scientific Reports 6(1), 1–9.

Do Linh San, E., Ferguson, A.W., Belant, J.L., Schipper, J., Hoffman, M., Guabert, P., Angelici, F.M., Somers, M.J., 2013. Conservation status, distribution and species richness of small carnivores in Africa. Small Carnivore Conservation 48, 4–18.

Do Linh San, E., Begg, C., Begg, K., Abramov, A.V., 2016. *Mellivora capensis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species: e.T41629A45210107.

Drouilly, M., Nattrass, N., O'Riain, M.J., 2018. Dietary niche relationships among predators on farmland and a protected area. Journal of Wildlife Management 82(3), 507–518.

Du Plessis, J.J., Avenant, N.L., De Waal, H.O., 2015. Quality and quantity of the scientific information available on black-backed jackals and caracals: contributing to human-predator conflict management? African Journal of Wildlife Research 45(2), 138–157.

Easter, T., Bouley, P., Carter, N., 2020. Intraguild dynamics of understudied carnivores in a humanaltered landscape. Ecology and Evolution 10(12), 5476–5488.

Edwards, S., Noack, J., Heyns, L., Rodenwoldt, D., 2019. Evidence of a high-density brown hyena population within an enclosed reserve: the role of fenced systems in conservation. Mammal Research 64(4), 519–527.

Edwards, S., Noack, J., Heyns, L., Rodenwoldt, D., Tarjan, L.M., 2020. Socioecology of a high-density brown hyaena population within an enclosed reserve. Mammal Research 65(2), 223–233.

Ehlers Smith, Y.C., Ehlers Smith, D.A., Rushworth, I., Mulqueeny, C., 2018. Best practice guide for camera-trap survey design and implementation in KwaZuluNatal and Ezemvelo KZN Wildlife Protected Area Networks. Ezemvelo KZN Wildlife, Pietermaritzburg.

Elsen, P.R., Monahan, W.B., Dougherty, E.R., Merenlender, A.M., 2020. Keeping pace with climate change in global terrestrial protected areas. Science Advances 6(25), eaay0814.

Fazey, I., Fischer, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2005. What do conservation biologists publish? Biological Conservation 124(1), 63–73.

Ferguson, K., Hanks, J., 2012. The effects of protected area veterinary fencing on wildlife conservation in Southern Africa. PARKS: The International Journal of Protected Areas and Conservation 18(1) Gland, Switzerland: IUCN WCPA.

Ferreira, A.S., Peres, C.A., Bogoni, J.A., Cassano, C.R., 2018. Use of agroecosystem matrix habitats by mammalian carnivores (Carnivora): a global-scale analysis. Mammal Review 48(4), 312–327.

Fewster, R.M., Buckland, S.T., Burnham, K.P., Borchers, D.L., Jupp, P.E., Laake, J.L., Thomas, L., 2009. Estimating the encounter rate variance in distance sampling. Biometrics 65(1), 225-236.

Forbes, R.W., 2011. The diet of black-backed jackal (*Canis mesomelas*) on two contrasting land-use types in the Eastern Cape province, South Africa and the validation of a new analytical method of mammalisn hair identification. PhD Thesis. Rhodes University.

Fouché, J., Reilly, B.K., de Crom, E.P., Baeumchen, Y.K., Forberger, S., 2020. Density estimates of spotted hyaenas (*Crocuta crocuta*) on arid farmlands of Namibia. African Journal of Ecology 58(3), 563–567.

Fourie, R.M., Tambling, C.J., Gaylard, A., Kerley, G.I.H., 2015. Short-term foraging responses of a generalist predator to management-driven resource pulses. African Journal of Ecology 53(4), 521–530.

Fuller, T.K., Kittredge, D.B., 1996. Conservation of large forest carnivores. In: DeGraaf, R.M., Miller, R.I., (Eds.), Conservation of Faunal Diversity in Forested Landscapes. Conversation Biology 6, 137–164. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Gallardo, B., Aldridge, D.C., González-Moreno, P., Pergl, J., Pizarro, M., Pyšek, P., Thuiller, W., Yesson, C., Vilà, M., 2017. Protected areas offer refuge from invasive species spreading under climate change. Global Change Biology 23(12), 5331–5343.

Garland, L., Neilson, E., Avgar, T., Bayne, E., Boutin, S., 2020. Random encounter and staying time model testing with human volunteers. The Journal of Wildlife Management 84(6), 1179–1184.

Gharajehdaghipour, T., Roth, J.D., Fafard, P.M., Markham, J.H., 2016. Arctic foxes as ecosystem engineers: increased soil nutrients lead to increased plant productivity on fox dens. Scientific Reports 6(1), 1–7.

Gigliotti, L.C., Slotow, R., Hunter, L.T.B., Fattebert, J., Douglas, C.S., Jachowski, D.S., 2020. Habitat complexity and lifetime predation risk influence mesopredator survival in a multi-predator system. Scientific Reports 10(1), 17841.

Gilbert, N.A., Clare, J.D.J., Stenglein, J.L., Zuckerberg, B., 2021. Abundance estimation of unmarked animals based on camera-trap data. Conservation Biology 35(1), 88-100.

Goodheart, B., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., Vinks, M., Schuette, P., Banda, K., Sanguinetti, C., Rosenblatt, E., Dart, C., Kusler, A., Young-Overton, K., Stevens, X., Mwanza, A., Simukonda, C., 2021. Low apex carnivore density does not release a subordinate competitor when driven by prey depletion. Biological Conservation 261, 109273.

Green, A., Avenant, N.L., Melville, H.I., 2022. Ranging behaviour of a territorial male black backed jackal in a small stock farming area in the Southern Free State. Indago 37, 67–76.

Gush, W.G., Wijers, M.C., Comley, J., Sousa, L.L., Donnell, H.O., Svensson, L.M., Macdonald, D.W., Loveridge, A.J., 2022. Camera traps reveal a large population of brown hyaena on a fenced reserve in southern Zimbabwe. African Journal of Ecology 60(3), 308–323.

Hamalainen, A., Broadley, K., Droghini, A., Haines, J.A., Lamb, C.T., Boutin, S., Gilbert, S., 2017. The ecological significance of secondary seed dispersal by carnivores. Ecosphere 8(2), e01685.

Hamann, M., Tuinder, V., 2012. Introducting the Eastern Cape: A quick guide to its history, diversity and future challenges. Governance of ecosystem services under scenarios of change in Southern and Eastern Africa. Stockholm Resilience Centre, Stockholm University.

Hannah, L., 2008. Protected areas and climate change. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134(1), 201–212.

Hardouin, M., Searle, C.E., Strampelli, P., Smit, J., Dickman, A., Lobora, A.L., Rowcliffe, J.M., 2021. Density responses of lesser-studied carnivores to habitat and management strategies in southern Tanzania's Ruaha- Rungwa landscape. PLoS One 16(3), e0242293.

Harris, G.M., Butler, M.J., Stewart, D.R., Rominger, E.M., Ruhl, C.Q., 2020. Accurate population estimation of *Caprinae* using camera traps and distance sampling. Scientific Reports 10(1), 17729.

Haswell, P.M., Kusak, J., Hayward, M.W., 2017. Large carnivore impacts are context-dependent. Food Webs 12, 3–13.

Hayward, M.W. and Hayward, G.J., 2007. Activity patterns of reintroduced lion *Panthera leo* and spotted hyaena *Crocuta crocuta* in the Addo Elephant National Park, South Africa. African journal of ecology 45(2) 135-141.

Hayward, M. W., Adendorff, J., O'Brien, J., Sholto-Douglas, A., Bissett, C., Moolman, L.C., Bean, P., Fogarty, A., Howarth, D., Slater, R., Kerley, G.I.H., 2007a. The reintroduction of large carnivores to the Eastern Cape, South Africa: an assessment. Oryx 41(2), 205–214.

Hayward, M.W., Adendorff, J., O'Brien, J., Sholto-Douglas, A., Bissett, C., Moolman, L.C., Bean, P., Fogarty, A., Howarth, D., Slater, R., Kerley, G.I.H., 2007b. Practical considerations for the reintroduction of large, terrestrial, mammalian predators based on reintroductions to South Africa's Eastern Cape Province. The Open Conservation Biology Journal 1(7), 1–11.

Hayward, M.W., O'Brien, J., Kerley, G.I.H., 2007c. Carrying capacity of large African predators: predictions and tests. Biological Conservation 139(1-2), 219–229.

Hayward, M.W., Kerley, G.I.H., 2009. Fencing for conservation: restriction of evolutionary potential or a riposte to threatening processes? Biological Conservation 142(1), 1–13.

Herrera, C.M., 1989. Frugivory and Seed Dispersal by Carnivorous Mammals, and Associated Fruit Characteristics, in Undisturbed Mediterranean Habitats. Oikos 55(2), 250–262.

Hijmans, R.J., Cameron, S.E., Parra, J.L., P.G., J., Jarvis, A., 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology: A Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 25(15), 1965–1978.

Hiscocks, K., Perrin, M.R., 1988. Home range and movements of black-backed jackals at Cape Cross Seal Reserve, Namibia. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 18(3), 97–100.

Hoare, D.B., Mucina, L., Rutherford, M.C., Vlok, J.H.J., Euston-Brown, D.I.W., Palmer, A.R., Powrie, L.W., Lechmere-Oertel, R.G., Procheş, S.M., Dold, A.P. & Ward, R.A., 2006. Albany Thicket Biome. In: Mucina, L. & Rutherford, M.C. (Eds.), The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland: 540-567. SANBI, Pretoria.

Hofmeester, T.R., Rowcliffe, J.M., Jansen, P.A., 2017. A simple method for estimating the effective detection distance of camera traps. Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation 3(2), 81–89.

Houa, N., Cappelle, N., Bitty, E., Normand, E., Kablan, Y., Boesch, C., 2022. Animal reactivity to camera traps and its effects on abundance estimate using distance sampling in the Taï National Park, Côte d'Ivoire. PeerJ 10, e13510.

Hoveka, L.N., Van der Bank, M., Davies, T.J., 2020. Evaluating the performance of a protected area network in South Africa and its implications for megadiverse countries. Biological Conservation 248, 108577.

Howe, E.J., Buckland, S.T., Després-Einspenner, M.-L., Kühl, H.S., 2017. Distance sampling with camera traps. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 8(11), 1558–1565.

Howe, E.J., Buckland, S.T., Després-Einspenner, M.L., Kühl, H.S., 2019. Model selection with overdispersed distance sampling data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 10(1), 38–47.

Hughes, J., Macdonald, D.W., 2013. A review of the interactions between free-roaming domestic dogs and wildlife. Biological Conservation 157, 341–351.

Hutchinson, J.M., Waser, P.M., 2007. Use, misuse and extensions of "ideal gas" models of animal encounter. Biological Reviews, 82(3), 335-359.

Inskip, C., Zimmerman, A., 2009. Human-felid conflict: a review of patterns and priorities worldwide. Oryx 43(1), 18–34.

IUCN, 2022. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2021-3. Available from: https://www.iucnredlist.org. [Accessed: 04/02/2022].

Jennelle, C.S., Runge, M.C., MacKenzie, D.I., 2002. The use of photographic rates to estimate densities of tigers and other cryptic mammals: a comment on misleading conclusions. Animal Conservation Forum, 5(2), 119-120.

Jiménez, J., Nuñez-Arjona, J.C. Mougeot, F., Ferreras, P., González, L.M., García-Domínguez, F. Muñoz-Igualada, J. Palacios, M.J., Pla, S., Rueda, C., Villaespesa, F., Nájera, F., Palomares, C., Lopéz-Baó, J.V., 2019. Restoring apex predators can reduce mesopredator abundances. Biological Conservation 238, 108234.

Joppa, L.N., Pfaff, A., 2010. High and Far: Biases in the Location of Protected Areas. PLoS One 4(12), e8273.

Joubert, J., O'Brien, J., 2005. Shamwari Game Reserve environmental management plan. Unpublished. Port Elizabeth. As cited in O'Brien, 2012.

Jourdain, N.O.A.S., Cole, D.J., Ridout, M.S., Rowcliffe, J.M., 2020. Statistical development of animal density estimation using Random Encounter Modelling. Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics 25, 148–167.

Jumeau, J., Petrod, L., Handrich, Y., 2017. A comparison of camera trap and permanent recording video camera efficiency in wildlife underpasses. Ecology and Evolution 7(18), 7399–7407.

Júnior, E.C.B., Rios, V.P., Dodonov, P., Vilela, B., Japyassú, H.F., 2022. Effect of behavioural plasticity and environmental properties on the resilience of communities under habitat loss and fragmentation. Ecological Modelling 472, 110071.

Kamler, J.F., Klare, U., Macdonald, D.W., 2012a. Seasonal diet and prey selection of black-backed jackals on a small-livestock farm in South Africa. African Journal of Ecology 50(3), 299–307.

Kamler, J.F., Stenkewitz, U., Klare, U., Jacobsen, N.F., MacDonald, D.W., 2012b. Resource Partitioning Among Cape Foxes, Bat-Eared Foxes, and Black-Backed Jackals in South Africa. Journal of Wildlife Management 76(6), 1241–1253.

Kamler, J.F., Stenkewitz, U., Macdonald, D.W., 2013. Lethal and sublethal effects of black-backed jackals on cape foxes and bat-eared foxes. Journal of Mammalogy 94(2), 295–306.

Kamler, J.F., Klare, U., Macdonald, D.W., 2020a. Seed dispersal potential of jackals and foxes in semiarid habitats of South Africa. Journal of Arid Environments 183, 104284. Kamler, J.F., Loveridge, A.J., Donnell, H.O., Macdonald, D.W., 2020b. Effects of humans and large carnivores on the survival of black-backed jackals. African Journal of Ecology 58(3), 557–562.

Kamler, J.F., Nicholson, S., Stenkewitz, U., Davies-mostert, Harriet Gharajehdaghipour, T., 2020c. Do black-backed jackals exhibit spatial partitioning with African wild dogs and lions? African Journal of Ecology 58, 552–556.

Karanth, K.U., Nichols, J.D., Kumar, N.S., Link, W.A., Hines, J.E., 2004. Tigers and their prey: predicting carnivore densities from prey abundance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101(14), 4854-4858.

Kaunda, S.K.K., 2000. Activity patterns of black-backed jackals at Mokolodi Nature Reserve, Botswana. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 30(4), 157–162.

Kavčić, K., Palencia, P., Apollonio, M., Vicente, J., Šprem, N., 2021. Random encounter model to estimate density of mountain-dwelling ungulate. European Journal of Wildlife Research, 67(5), 87.

Kent, V.T., Hill, R.A., 2013. The importance of farmland for the conservation of the brown hyaena *Parahyaena brunnea*. Oryx 47(3), 431–440.

Kerley, G.I.H., Behrens, K.G., Carruthers, J., Diemont, M., Du Plessis, J., Minnie, L., Richardson, P.R.K., Somers, M.J., Tambling, C.J., Turpie, J., Van Niekerk, H.N., Balfour, D., 2017. Livestock predation in South Africa: The need for, and value of a scientific assessment. South African Journal of Science 113(3-4), 17–19.

Kéry, M., Gardner, B., Stoeckle, T., Weber, D., Royle, J.A., 2010. Use of spatial capture-recapture modeling and DNA data to estimate densities of elusive animals. Conservation Biology 25(2), 356–364.

Kesch, K.M., Bauer, D.T., Loveridge, A.J., 2013. Undermining game fences: who is digging holes in Kalahari sands? African Journal of Ecology 52(2), 144–150.

Kettles, R., Slotow, R., 2009. Management of free-ranging lions on an enclosed game reserve. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 39(1), 23–33.

Kitchen, A.M., Gese, E.M., Schauster, E.R., 2000. Changes in coyote activity patterns due to reduced exposure to human persecution. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78(5), 853–857.

Klare, U., Kamler, J.F., Stenkewitz, U., MacDonald, D.W., 2010. Diet, Prey Selection, and Predation Impact of Black-Backed Jackals in South Africa. Journal of Wildlife Management 74(5), 1030–1042.

Kolowski, J.M., Forrester, T.D., 2017. Camera trap placement and the potential for bias due to trails and other features. PLoS One 12(10), e0186679.

Kucheravy, C.E., Roth, J.D., Markham, J.H., 2021. Red foxes increase reproductive output of white spruce in a non-mast year. Basic Applied Ecology 51, 11–19.

Lagesse, J. V, Thondhlana, G., 2016. The effect of land-use on small mammal diversity inside and outside the Great Fish River Nature Reserve, Eastern Cape, South Africa. Journal of Arid Environments 130, 76–83.

Langholz, J.A., Kerley, G.I.H., 2006. Combining conservation and development on private lands: an assessment of ecotourism-based private game reserves in the Eastern Cape. Center for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University.

Le Saout, S., Hoffmann, M., Shi, Y., Hughes, A., Bernard, C., Brooks, T.M., Bertzky, B., Butchart, S.H.M., Stuart, S.N., Badman, T., Rodrigues, A.S.L., 2013. Protected areas and effective biodiversity conservation. Science 342(6160), 803–805.

Levi, T., Kilpatrick, A.M., Mangel, M., Wilmers, C.C., 2012. Deer, predators, and the emergence of Lyme disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109(27), 10942–10947.

Lindsey, P.A., Alexander, R., Mills, M.G.L., Romañach, S., Woodroffe, R., 2007. Wildlife viewing preferences of visitors to protected areas in South Africa: Implications for the role of ecotourism in conservation. Journal of Ecotourism 6(1), 19–33.

Lindsey, P.A., Romañach, S.S. and Davies-Mostert, H.T., 2009. A Synthesis of Early Indicators of the Drivers of Predator Conservation on Private Lands in South Africa. In: Hayward, M.W. and Somers, M.J. (Eds), Reintroduction of Top-Order Predators. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, 321-344

Lindsey, P.A., Havemann, C.P., Lines, R., Palazy, L., Price, A.E., Retief, T.A., Rhebergen, T., Van der Waal, C., 2013. Determinants of persistence and tolerance of carnivores on Namibian ranches: implications for conservation on Southern African private lands. PLoS One 8(1), e52458.

Loveridge, A.J., Nel, J.A.J., 2013. *Canis mesomelas* Black-backed Jackal. In: Kingdon, J., Hoffman, M. (Eds.), Mammals of Africa: Volume V: Carnivores, Pangolins, Equids and Rhinoceroses. Bloomsbury Publishing, London, 39–44.

Lubke, R.A., Everard, D.A., Jackson, S., 1986. The biomes of the eastern Cape with emphasis on their conservation. Bothalia 16(2), 251–261.

Lucas, T.C., Moorcroft, E.A., Freeman, R., Rowcliffe, J.M., Jones, K.E., 2015. A generalised random encounter model for estimating animal density with remote sensor data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 6(5), 500-509.

Maciejewski, K., Kerley, G.I.H., 2014. Understanding tourists' preference for mammal Species in private protected areas: Is there a case for extralimital species for ecotourism? PLoS One 9(2), e88192.

Mahlalela, P.T., Blamey, R.C., Hart, N.C.G., Reason, C.J.C., 2020. Drought in the Eastern Cape region of South Africa and trends in rainfall characteristics. Climate Dynamics 55, 2743–2759.

Mann, G.K., O'Riain, M.J., Parker, D.M., 2015. The road less travelled: assessing variation in mammal detection probabilities with camera traps in a semi-arid biodiversity hotspot. Biodiversity and Conservation, 24, 531-545.

Manzo, E., Bartolommei, P., Rowcliffe, J.M., Cozzolino, R., 2012. Estimation of population density of European pine marten in central Italy using camera trapping. Acta Theriologica, 57, 165-172.

Marneweck, C.J., Allen, B.L., Butler, A.R., Emmanuel, D.L.S., Harris, S.N., Jensen, A.J., Saldo, E.A., Somers, M.J., Titus, K., Muthersbaugh, M., Vanak, A., Jachowski, D.S., 2022. Middle-out ecology: small carnivores as sentinels of global change. Mammal Review 52(4), 471–479.

Mascia, M.B., Pailler, S., Krithivasan, R., Roshchanka, V., Burns, D., Mlotha, M.J., Murray, D.R., Peng, N., 2014. Protected area downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement (PADDD) in Africa, Asia, and Latin America and the Caribbean, 1900–2010. Biological Conservation 169, 355–361.

Mason, S.S., Hill, R.A., Whittingham, M.J., Cokill, J., Smith, G.C., Stephens, P.A., 2022. Camera trap distance sampling for terrestrial mammal population monitoring: lessons learnt from a UK case study. Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation 8(5), 717–730.

McKaughan, J.E.T., Stephens, P.A., Hill, R.A., 2023. Estimating mesocarnivore abundance on commercial farmland using distance sampling with camera traps. Ecological Solutions and Evidence 4(2), e12229.

Meek, P.D., Ballard, G.A., Fleming, P.J., Schaefer, M., Williams, W., Falzon, G., 2014. Camera traps can be heard and seen by animals. PloS one, 9(10), e110832.

Meek, P.D., Ballard, G.A., Sparkes, J., Robinson, M., Nesbitt, B., Fleming, P.J.S., 2019. Camera trap theft and vandalism: occurrence, cost, prevention and implications for wildlife research and management. Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation 5(2), 160–168.

Melville, H., 2004. Behavioural ecology of caracal in the Kgalagadi transfrontier park, and its impact on adjacent small stock production units. PhD thesis. University of Pretoria, South Africa.

Melville, H.I., Strauss, W.M., 2021. Trialling a simple camera-trap based method to estimate blackbacked jackal population density. Indago, 37. 77-87

Miller, S.M., Funston, P.J., 2014. Rapid growth rates of lion (*Panthera leo*) populations in small, fenced reserves in South Africa: a management dilemma. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 44(1), 43–55.

Miller, D.L., Rexstad, E., Thomas, L., Marshall, L., Laake, J.L., 2019. Distance sampling in R. Journal of Statistical Software 89, 1–28.

Minnie, L., Boshoff, A.F., Kerley, G.I.H., 2015. Vegetation type influences livestock predation by leopards: implications for conservation in agro ecosystems. African Journal of Wildlife Research, 45(2), 204-214.

Minnie, L., Gaylard, A., Kerley, G.I.H., 2016. Compensatory life-history responses of a mesopredator may undermine carnivore management efforts. Journal of Applied Ecology 53(2), 379–387.

Minnie, L., Drouilly, M., Samuels, I., 2018a. Biology and ecology of black-backed jackal and caracal, in: Kerley, G.I.H., Wilson, S.L., Balfour, D. (Eds.), Livestock predation and Its management in South Africa: A scientific assessment. Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela University, Port Elizabeth. Minnie, L., Zalewski, A., Zalewska, H., Kerley, G.I.H., 2018b. Spatial variation in anthropogenic mortality induces a source–sink system in a hunted mesopredator. Oecologia 186, 939-951.

Mora, C., Sale, P.F., 2011. Ongoing global biodiversity loss and the need to move beyond protected areas: a review of the technical and practical shortcomings of protected areas on land and sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 434, 251–266.

Morin, D.J., Boulanger, J., Bischof, R., Lee, D.C., Ngoprasert, D., Fuller, A.K., McLellan, B., Steinmetz, R., Sharma, S., Garshelis, D. and Gopalaswamy, A., Nawaz, M.A., Karanth, U., 2022. Comparison of methods for estimating density and population trends for low-density Asian bears. Global Ecology and Conservation 35, e02058.

Mucina, L. & Rutherford, M.C. (eds) Reprint 2011. The Vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland. Strelitzia 19. South African National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria.

Nakashima, Y., Fukasawa, K., Samejima, H., 2018. Estimating animal density without individual recognition using information derivable exclusively from camera traps. Journal of Applied Ecology 55(2), 735–744.

Nakashima, Y., Hongo, S., Akomo-Okoue, E.F., 2020. Landscape-scale estimation of forest ungulate density and biomass using camera traps: Applying the REST model. Biological Conservation 241, 108381.

Nakashima, Y., Do Linh San, E., 2022. Seed dispersal by mesocarnivores: importance and functional uniqueness in a changing world. In: San, E.D.L., Sato, J.J., Belant, J.L., Somers, M.J. (Eds.), Small Carnivores: Evolution, Ecology, Behaviour, and Conservation. Wiley-Blackwell, 347–391.

Nattrass, N., Conradie, B., 2013. Jackal narratives and predator control in the Karoo, South Africa. Centre for Social Science Research: Sustainable Societies Unit, Cape Town.

Nattrass, N., Conradie, B., 2015. Jackal Narratives: Predator control and contested ecologies in the Karoo, South Africa. Journal of Southern African Studies 41(4), 753–771.

Nattrass, N., Conradie, B., Drouilly, M., O'Riain, M.J., 2017. Understanding the black-backed jackal. CSSR Working Paper No. 399. Centre for Social Science Research, University of Cape Town: Cape Town.

Nel, J.A.J., Loutit, R.J., Braby, R., Somers, M.J., 2013. Resource dispersion, territory size and group size of black-backed jackals on a desert coast. Acta Theriologica 58, 189–197.

Newmark, W.D., 2008. Isolation of African protected areas. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6(6) 321–328.

Newsome, T.M., Greenville, A.C., Ćirović, D., Dickman, C.R., Johnson, C.N., Krofel, M., Letnic, M., Ripple, W.J., Ritchie, E.G., Stoyanov, S., Wirsing, A.J., 2017. Top predators constrain mesopredator distributions. Nature Communications 8(1), 15469.

Niedballa, J., Sollmann, R., Courtiol, A., Wilting, A., 2016. CamtrapR: an R package for efficient camera trap data management. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7(12), 1457–1462.

Nowell, K., Jackson, P. (Eds.), 1996. Wild cats: status survey and conservation action plan (Vol. 382). IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

O'Brien, J., 2012. The ecology and management of the large carnivore guild on Shamwari Game Reserve, Eastern Cape. PhD thesis. Rhodes University, Makhanda (Formerly Grahamstown), South Africa.

Ostfeld, R.S., Holt, R.D., 2004. Are predators good for your health? Evaluating evidence for top-down regulation of zoonotic disease reservoirs. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2(1), 13–20.

Pal, R., Bhattacharya, T., Qureshi, Q., Buckland, S.T., Sathyakumar, S., 2021. Using distance sampling with camera traps to estimate the density of group-living and solitary mountain ungulates. Oryx 55(5), 1–9.

Palencia, P., Rowcliffe, J.M., Vicente, J., Acevedo, P., 2021a. Assessing the camera trap methodologies used to estimate density of unmarked populations. Journal of Applied Ecology 58(8), 1583–1592.

Palencia, P., Fernández-López, J., Vicente, J., Acevedo, P., 2021b. Innovations in movement and behavioural ecology from camera traps: Day range as model parameter. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13609

Pardo, L.E., Swanepoel, L., Curveira-Santos, G., Fritz, H., Venter, J.A., 2022. Habitat structure, not the anthropogenic context or large predators, shapes occupancy of a generalist mesopredator across protected areas in South Africa. Mammal Research 67(3), 265–278.

Peral, C., Landman, M., Kerley, G.I.H., 2022. The inappropriate use of time-to-independence biases estimates of activity patterns of free-ranging mammals derived from camera traps. Ecology and Evolution 12(10), e9408.

Pereira, H.M., Leadley, P.W., Proença, V., Alkemade, R., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Fernandez-Manjarrés, J.F., Araújo, M.B., Balvanera, P., Biggs, R., Cheung, W.W.L., Chini, L., Cooper, H.D., Gilman, E.L., Guénette, S., Hurtt, G.C., Huntington, H.P., Scholes, R.J., Sumaila, U.R., Walpole, M., 2010. Scenarios for Global Biodiversity in the 21st Century. Science 330(6010), 1496–1502.

Pereira, J.A., Thompson, J., Di Bitetti, M.S., Fracassi, N.G., Paviolo, A., Fameli, A.F., Novaro, A.J., 2020. A small protected area facilitates persistence of a large carnivore in a ranching landscape. Journal of Nature Conservation 56, 125846.

Pereira, L.M., Owen-Smith, N., Moleón, M., 2014. Facultative predation and scavenging by mammalian carnivores: seasonal, regional and intra-guild comparisons. Mammal Review 44(1), 44–55.

Pettigrew, P., Sigouin, D., St-Laurent, M.H., 2021. Testing the precision and sensitivity of density estimates obtained with a camera-trap method revealed limitations and opportunities. Ecology and Evolution 11(12), 7879-7889.

Pfeffer, S.E., Spitzer, R., Allen, A.M., Hofmeester, T.R., Ericsson, G., Widemo, F., Singh, N.J., Cromsigt, J.P., 2018. Pictures or pellets? Comparing camera trapping and dung counts as methods for

estimating population densities of ungulates. Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation 4(2), 173-183.

Pitman, R.T., Fattebert, J., Williams, S.T., Williams, K.S., Hill, R.A., Hunter, L.T.B., Slotow, R., Balme, G.A., 2017. The Conservation Costs of Game Ranching. Conservation Letters 10(4), 402–412.

Pohl, C.F., 2015. The diet of caracal (*Caracal caracal*) in the southern Free State. PhD Thesis, University of Free State, South Africa.

Pretorius, M., 2019. Mesocarnivores in Protected Areas: ecological and anthropogenic determinants of habitat use in northern Kwa-Zulu Natal, South Africa. MSc Thesis, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa.

Prugh, L.R., Sivy, K.J., 2020. Enemies with benefits: integrating positive and negative interactions among terrestrial carnivores. Ecology Letters 23(5), 902–918.

Prugh, L.R., Stoner, C.J., Epps, C.W., Bean, W.T., Ripple, W.J., Laliberte, A.S., Brashares, J.S., 2009. The Rise of the Mesopredator. Bioscience 59(9), 779–791.

Purvis, A., Gittleman, J.L., Cowlishaw, G., Mace, G.M., 2000. Predicting extinction risk in declining species. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 267(1456), 1947–1952.

QGIS Development Team, version 3.2.0 (2022). QGIS Geographic Information System. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. http://qgis.osgeo.org.

R Core Team, 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Version 4.2.1 Available from: https://www.R-project.org/.

Ramesh, T., Downs, C.T., 2015. Impact of land use on occupancy and abundance of terrestrial mammals in the Drakensberg Midlands, South Africa. Journal of Nature Conservation 23, 9–18.

Ramesh, T., Kalle, R., Downs, C.T., 2017. Space use in a South African agriculture landscape by the caracal (Caracal caracal). European Journal of Wildlife Research 63, 1–11.

Rebelo, A.G., Boucher, C., Helme, N., Mucina, L., Rutherford, M.C., Smit, W.J., Powrie, L.W., Ellis, F., Lambrechts, J.J., Scott, L., Radloff, F.G.T., Johnson, S.D., Richardson, D.M., Ward, R.A., Procheş, S.M., Oliver, E.G.H., Manning, J.C., Jürgens, N., McDonald, D.J., Janssen, J.A.M., Walton, B.A., Le Roux, A., Skowno, A.L., Todd, S.W. & Hoare, D.B., 2006. Fynbos Biome. In: Mucina, L. & Rutherford, M.C. (Eds.), The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland: 52-219. SANBI, Pretoria, South Africa.

Ridout, M., Linkie, M. (2009). Estimating overlap of daily activity patterns from camera trap data. Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics 14(3), 322-337.

Ritchie, E.G., Johnson, C.N., 2009. Predator interactions, mesopredator release and biodiversity conservation. Ecology Letters 12(9), 982–998.

Rodrigues, A.S.L., Andelman, S.J., Bakarr, M.I., Boitani, L., Brooks, T.M., Cowling, R.M., Fishpool, L.D.C., Fonseca, G.A.B., Gaston, K.J., Hoffmann, M., Long, J.S., Marquet, P.A., Pilgrim, J.D., Pressey,

R.L., Schipper, J., Sechrest, W., Stuart, S.N., Underhill, L.G., Waller, R.W., Watts, M.E.J., Yan, X., 2004. Effectiveness of the global protected area network in representing species diversity. Nature 428(6983), 640–643.

Roemer, G.W., Gompper, M.E., Van Valkenburgh, B., 2009. The ecological role of the mammalian mesocarnivore. Bioscience 59(2), 165–173.

Rovero, F., Marshall, A.R., 2009. Camera trapping photographic rate as an index of density in forest ungulates. Journal of applied Ecology 46(5), 1011-1017.

Rovero, F., Zimmermann, F., Berzi, D., Meek, P., 2013. "Which camera trap type and how many do I need?" A review of camera features and study designs for a range of wildlife research applications. Hystrix 24(2), 148-156.

Rovero, F., Zimmermann, F., 2016. Camera trapping for wildlife research. Pelagic Publishing.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., 2008. Surveys using camera traps: Are we looking to a brighter future? Animal Conservation 11(3), 10–12.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Field, J., Turvey, S.T., Carbone, C., 2008. Estimating animal density using camera traps without the need for individual recognition. Journal of Applied Ecology 45, 1228–1236.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., Jansen, P.A., Kays, R., Kranstauber, B., 2011. Quantifying the sensitivity of camera traps: an adapted distance sampling approach. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 2(5), 464–476.

Rowcliffe, MJ., Carbone, C., Kays, R., Kranstauber, B., Jansen, P.A., 2012. Bias in estimating animal travel distance: the effect of sampling frequency. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 3(4), 653-662.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Kays, R., Kranstauber, B., Carbone, C., Jansen, P.A., 2014. Quantifying levels of animal activity using camera trap data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 5, 1170–1179.

Rowcliffe, J. M., Jansen, P. A., Kays, R., Kranstauber, B., and Carbone, C., 2016. Wildlife speed cameras: Measuring animal travel speed and day range using camera traps. Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation 2(2), 84–94.

Rowe-Rowe, D.T., 1982. Home range and movements of black-backed jackals in an African montane region. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 12(3), 79-84

Rubalcava-Castillo, F.A., Sosa-Ramírez, J., Luna-Ruíz, J. de J., Gerardo Valdivia-Flores, A., Íñiguez-Dávalos, L.I., 2021. Seed dispersal by carnivores in temperate and tropical dry forests. Ecology and Evolution 11(9), 3794–3807.

Ruette, S., Stahl, P., Albaret, M., 2003. Applying distance-sampling methods to spotlight counts of red foxes. Journal of Applied Ecology 40(1), 32–43.

Rutherford, M.C., Mucina, L., Lötter, M.C., Bredenkamp, G.J., Smit, J.H.L., Scott-Shaw, C.R., Hoare, D.B., Goodman, P.S., Bezuidenhout, H., Scott, L., Ellis, F., Powrie, L.W., Siebert, F., Mostert, T.H., Henning, B.J., Venter, C.E., Camp, K.G.T., Siebert, S.J., Matthews, W.S., Burrows, J.E., Dobson, L.,

Van Rooyen, N., Schmidt, E., Winter, P.J.D., du Preez, P.J., Ward, R.A., Williamson, S. & Hurter, P.J.H., 2006. Savanna Biome. In: Mucina, L. & Rutherford, M.C. (Eds.), The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland: 438-539. SANBI, Pretoria.

Santini, G., Abolaffio, M., Ossi, F., Franzetti, B., Cagnacci, F., Focardi, S., 2022. Population assessment without individual identification using camera-traps: A comparison of four methods. Basic and Applied Ecology 61, 68-81.

Satgé, J. De, Teichman, K., Cristescu, B., 2017. Competition and coexistence in a small carnivore guild. Oecologia 184, 873–884.

Satterfield, L.C., Thompson, J.J., Snyman, A., Candelario, L., Rode, B., Carroll, J.P., 2017. Estimating occurrence and detectability of a carnivore community in eastern Botswana using baited camera traps. African Journal of Wildlife Research 47(1), 32–46.

Schipper, J., Chanson, J.S., Chiozza, F., Cox, N.A., Hoffmann, M., Katariya, V., Lamoreux, J., Rodrigues, A.S., Stuart, S.N., Temple, H.J., Baillie, J., 2008. The status of the world's land and marine mammals: diversity, threat, and knowledge. Science 322(5899), 225–230.

Schmitz, O.J., Hawlena, D., Trussell, G.C., 2010. Predator control of ecosystem nutrient dynamics. Ecology Letters 13(10), 1199–1209.

Schuette, P., Wagner, A.P., Wagner, M.E., Creel, S., 2013. Occupancy patterns and niche partitioning within a diverse carnivore community exposed to anthropogenic pressures. Biological Conservation 158, 301–312.

Serieys, L.E., Bishop, J., Okes, N., Broadfield, J., Winterton, D.J. Poppenga, R.H., Viljoen, S., Wayne, R.K., O'Riain, M.J., 2019. Widespread anticoagulant poison exposure in predators in a rapidly growing South African city. Science of the Total Environment 666, 581–590.

Sévêque, A., Gentle, L.K., López-Bao, J. V, Yarnell, R.W., Uzal, A., 2020. Human disturbance has contrasting effects on niche partitioning within carnivore communities. Biological Reviews 95(6), 1689–1705.

The Shamwari Story, 2023. Shamwari Private Game Reserve. Available from: https://www.shamwari.com/about-us/ [Accessed: 05/10/23].

Sims-Castley, R., Kerley, G.I.H., Geach, B., Langholz, J., 2005. Socio-economic significance of ecotourism-based private game reserves in South Africa's Eastern Cape Province Parks 15(2), 6-18.

Skead, C.J., 2007. Historical incidence of the larger land mammals in the broader Eastern Cape. Boshoff, A., Kerley, G.I.H., Lloyd, P., (Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Port Elizabeth: Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University.

Slater, K., Muller, K., 2014. The diet of brown hyaenas (*Hyaena brunnea*) in Shamwari Game Reserve, Eastern Cape, South Africa. Koedoe: African Protected Area Conservation and Science 56(1), 1-5.

Small, E., 2011. The new Noah's Ark: beautiful and useful species only. Part 1. Biodiversity conservation issues and priorities. Biodiversity 12(4), 232–247.

Smith, N., Wilson, S.L., 2002. Changing land use trends in the thicket biome: pastoralism to game farming. Terrestrial Ecology Research Unit Report, University of Port Elizabeth, Port Elizabeth, South Africa.

Sollmann, R., Mohamed, A., Samejima, H., Wilting, A., 2013. Risky business or simple solutions: relative abundance indices from camera-trapping. Biological Conservation 159 405-412

South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI), 2018. The Vegetation Map of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland, Version 2018, Mucina, L., Rutherford, M.C., Powrie, L.W. (Eds.), URL: http://bgis.sanbi.org/Projects/Detail/186.

Spear, D., Foxcroft, L.C., Bezuidenhout, H., Mcgeoch, M.A., 2013. Human population density explains alien species richness in protected areas. Biological Conservation 159, 137–147.

Stem, C., Margoluis, R., Salafsky, N., Brown, M., 2005. Monitoring and evaluation in conservation: a review of trends and approaches. Conservation Biology 19(2), 295–309.

Stuart, C.T., 1981. Notes on the mammalian carnivores of the Cape Province, South Africa. Bontebok 1, 1-58.

Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Zanette, L.Y., Wilmers, C.C., 2019. Fear of humans as apex predators has landscape-scale impacts from mountain lions to mice. Ecology Letters 22(10), 1578–1586.

Swanepoel, L.H., Balme, G.A., Williams, S., Power, R.J., Snyman, A., Gaigher, I., Senekal, C., Martins, Q., Child, M.F., 2016. A conservation assessment of *Panthera pardus*. The Red List of Mammals of South Africa 1–13.

Swanepoel, L.H., Somers, M.J., Dalerum, F., 2015. Density of leopards *Panthera pardus* on protected and non-protected land in the Waterberg Biosphere, South Africa. Wildlife Biology 21(5), 263–268.

Swanson, A., Caro, T., Davies-Mostert, H., Mills, M.G.L., Macdonald, D.W., Borner, M., Masenga, E., Packer, C., 2014. Cheetahs and wild dogs show contrasting patterns of suppression by lions. Journal of Animal Ecology 83(6), 1418–1427.

Swanson, A., Kosmala, M., Lintott, C., Simpson, R., Smith, A., Packer, C., 2015. Snapshot Serengeti, high-frequency annotated camera trap images of 40 mammalian species in an African savanna. Scientific Data 2(1), 150026.

Tambling, C.J., Avenant, N.L., Drouilly, M., Melville, H.I., 2018. The role of mesopredators in ecosystems: Potential effects of managing their populations on ecosystem processes and biodiversity. In: Kerley, G.I.H., Wilson, S.L., Balfour, D. (Eds.), Livestock predation and its management in South Africa: A scientific assessment. Centre for African Conservation Ecology, Nelson Mandela University, Port Elizabeth.

Tambling, C.J., Du Toit, J.T., 2005. Modelling wildebeest population dynamics: implications of predation and harvesting in a closed system. Journal of Applied Ecology 42(3), 431–441.

Tanwar, K.S., Sadhu, A., Jhala, Y.V., 2021. Camera trap placement for evaluating species richness, abundance, and activity. Scientific Reports 11(1), 23050.

Taylor, J.M., 2015. Mesopredator release and the effectiveness of camera traps for estimating mammal abundances in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. MSc thesis. Rhodes University, South Africa.

Thomas, L., Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Laake, J.L., Strindberg, S., Hedley, S.L., Bishop, J.R.B., Marques, T.A., Burnham, K.P., 2010. Distance software: design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. Journal of Applied Ecology 47(1), 5–14.

Thorn, M., Scott, D.M., Green, M., Bateman, P.W., Cameron, E.Z., 2009. Estimating brown hyaena occupancy using baited camera traps. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 39(1), 1-10.

Thorn, M., Green, M., Keith, M., Marnewick, K., Bateman, P.W., Cameron, E.Z., Scott, D.M., 2011. Large-scale distribution patterns of carnivores in northern South Africa: implications for conservation and monitoring. Oryx 45(4), 579–586.

Thorn, M., Green, M., Scott, D. and Marnewick, K., 2013. Characteristics and determinants of humancarnivore conflict in South African farmland. Biodiversity and conservation, *22*, 1715-1730.

Thorn, M., Green, M., Marnewick, K., Scott, D.M., 2015. Determinants of attitudes to carnivores: implications for mitigating human–carnivore conflict on South African farmland. Oryx 49(2), 270–277.

Thornton, D., Pekins, C.E., 2015. Spatially explicit capture-recapture analysis of bobcat (*Lynx rufus*) density: Implications for mesocarnivore monitoring. Wildlife Research 42(5), 394–404.

Treves, A., Karanth, K.U., Karanth, U.K., 2003. Human-carnivore conflict and perspectives on carnivore management worldwide. Conservation Biology 17(6), 1491–1499.

Treves, A., Naughton-Treves, L., 2005. Evaluating lethal control in the management of human-wildlife conflict. In: Woodroffe, R., Thirgood, A., Rabinowitz, A. (Eds.), People and Wildlife: Conflict or Coexistence? Cambridge University Press, London.

Treves, A., 2009. Hunting for large carnivore conservation. Journal of Applied Ecology, 46(6), 1350-1356

Treves, A., Krofel, M., McManus, J., 2016. Predator control should not be a shot in the dark. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 14(7), 380-388.

Twining, J.P., McFarlane, C., O'Meara, D., O'Reilly, C., Reyne, M., Montgomery, W.I., Helyar, S., Tosh, D.G., Augustine, B.C., 2022. A comparison of density estimation methods for monitoring marked and unmarked animal populations. Ecosphere 13(10), e4165.

Van der Weyde, L.K., Mbisana, C., Klein, R., 2018. Multi-species occupancy modelling of a carnivore guild in wildlife management areas in the Kalahari. Biological Conservation 220, 21–28.

Van Eeden, L.M., Eklund, A., Miller, J.R.B., López-Bao, J.V., Chapron, G., Cejtin, M.R., Crowther, M.S., Dickman, C.R., Frank, J., Krofel, M., Macdonald, D.W., McManus, J., Meyer, T.K., Middleton, A.D., Newsome, T.M., Ripple, W.J., Ritchie, E.G., Schmitz, O.J., Stoner, K.J., Tourani, M., Treves, A., 2018. Carnivore conservation needs evidence-based livestock protection. PLoS Biol 16(9), e2005577.

Van Niekerk, H.N., 2010. The cost of predation on small livestock in South Africa by medium-sized predators. PhD thesis. University of the Free State, South Africa.

Vissia, S., Wadhwa, R., Van Langevelde, F., 2021. Co-occurrence of high densities of brown hyena and spotted hyena in central Tuli, Botswana. Journal of Zoology 314(2), 143-150.

Wallin, J., 2022. Migration and activity of the eastern black-backed jackal (*Canis mesomelas schmidtii*) in OI Pejeta, Kenya. MSc Thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden.

Waser, P.M., 1980. Small nocturnal carnivores: ecological studies in the Serengeti. African Journal of Ecology 18(2-3), 167-185.

Wasiolka, B., Blaum, N., 2011. Comparing biodiversity between protected savanna and adjacent nonprotected farmland in the southern Kalahari. Journal of Arid Environments 75(9), 836–841.

Wegge, P., Pokheral, C.P., Jnawali, S.R., 2004. Effects of trapping effort and trap shyness on estimates of tiger abundance from camera trap studies. Animal Conservation 7(3), 251-256.

Welch, R.J., Parker, D.M., 2016. Brown hyaena population explosion: rapid population growth in a small, fenced system. Wildlife Research 43(2), 178–187.

Welch, R.J., Tambling, C.J., Bissett, C., Gaylard, A., Müller, K., Slater, K., Strauss, W.M., Parker, D.M., 2016. Brown hyena habitat selection varies among sites in a semi-arid region of southern Africa. Journal of Mammalogy 97(2), 473–482.

Whitehouse-Tedd, K., Basson, M., Cilliers, D., 2021. Farmer perceptions of carnivores, their culpability for livestock losses, and the protective measures used in Northern Cape Province, South Africa. Journal of Vertebrate Biology 70(2), 21010.

Wielgus, R.B., Peebles, K.A., 2014. Effects of wolf mortality on livestock depredations. PLoS One 9(12), e113505.

Wiesel, I., 2015. *Parahyaena brunnea*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015; e.T10276A82344448 Available from: http://www.iucnredlist.org [Accessed: 31/05/2023].

Willcox, D., 2020. Conservation status, ex situ priorities and emerging threats to small carnivores. International Zoo Yearbook 54(1), 19–34.

Williams, D.R., Rondinini, C., Tilman, D., 2022. Global protected areas seem insufficient to safeguard half of the world's mammals from human-induced extinction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 119(24), e2200118119.

Williams, K.S., Williams, S.T., Welch, R.J., Marneweck, C.J., Mann, G.K.H., Pitman, R.T., Whittington-Jones, G., Balme, G.A., Parker, D.M., Hill, R.A., 2021a. Assumptions about fence permeability influence density estimates for brown hyaenas across South Africa. Scientific Reports 11(1), 1–11.

Williams, K.S, Pitman, R.T., Mann, G.K.H., Whittington-Jones, G., Comley, J., Williams, S.T., Hill, R.A., Balme, G.A., Parker, D.M., 2021b. Utilizing bycatch camera-trap data for broad-scale occupancy and conservation: a case study of the brown hyaena *Parahyaena brunnea*. Oryx 55(2), 216–226.

Williams, S.T., Maree, N., Taylor, P., Belmain, S.R., Keith, M., Swanepoel, L.H., 2019. Predation by small mammalian carnivores in rural agro-ecosystems: An undervalued ecosystem service? Ecosystem Services 30, 362–371.

Winterbach, C.W., Maude, G., Neo-Mahupeleng, G., Klein, R., Boast, L., Rich, L.N. Somers, M.J., 2017. Conservation implications of brown hyaena (*Parahyaena brunnea*) population densities and distribution across landscapes in Botswana. Koedoe 59(2), a1441

Wolf, C., Ripple, W.J., 2017. Range contractions of the world's large carnivores. Royal Society Open Science 4(7), 170052.

Woodroffe, R., 2000. Predators and people: using human densities to interpret declines of large carnivores. Animal Conservation 3(2), 165–173.

Woodroffe, R., Ginsberg, J.R., 1998. Edge Effects and the Extinction of Populations Inside Protected Areas. Science 280(5372), 2126–2128.

Yarnell, R.W., Phipps, W.L., Burgess, L.P., Ellis, J.A., Harrison, S.W.R., Dell, S., Mactavish, D., Mactavish, L.M., Scott, D.M., 2013. The influence of large predators on the feeding ecology of two African mesocarnivores: the black-backed jackal and the brown hyaena. South African Journal of Wildlife Research 43(2), 155–166.

Zero, V.H., Sundaresan, S.R., O'Brien, T.G., Kinnaird, M.F., 2013. Monitoring an endangered savannah ungulate, Grevy's zebra *Equus grevyi*: choosing a method for estimating population densities. Oryx, 47(3), 410-419.

Zhang, H.M., Huang, B., Lawrimore, J.H., Menne, M.J., Smith, T.M., 2019. NOAA Global Surface Temperature Dataset (NOAAGlobalTemp), Version 4.0.
Species	SGR	MUA	
Carnivores	5194	357	
Aardwolf	21	50	
Bat-Eared Fox	50	25	
Black-Backed Jackal	132	257	
Brown Hyaena	323	5	
Caracal	25	12	
Honey Badger	5	5	
Large Spotted Genet	27		
Lion	4577		
Meerkat	28	3	
Mongoose	88	84	
Striped Polecat	33	8	
Naturally occurring game	1750	6545	
Aardvark	19	30	
Bushbuck	431	26	
Bushpig	40		
Common Duiker	454	1124	
Common Warthog	367	1222	
Greater Kudu	57	1715	
Mountain Reedbuck	15	1836	
Porcupine	50	169	
Steenbok	57	5	
Waterbuck	260	418	
Stocked Game	11460	793	
African Buffalo	788		
Black Wildebeest	220		
Blesbok		777	
Common Eland	80		
Elephant	492		
Giraffe	154		
Impala	3259		
Nyala	5		
Red Hartebeest	188		
Sable	10		
Zebra	6264	16*	
Primates	83	512	
Chacma Baboon	73	512	
Vervet Monkey	10		
Grand Total	19769	15190	

#### Appendix S1. Mammalian Captures by Study Site

Shamwari Game Reserve (SGR) and a mixed-use agricultural area (MUA). Numbers indicate total images captured, not individual capture occasions. Modelled species shown in **bold.** Small mammals and livestock not included. Naturally occurring game includes species that may have colonised the MUA from adjacent game reserves but now have an unmanaged breeding population. Grey squares indicate no captures. \*Zebra captured on MUA was confirmed to have moved through the fence from a neighbouring property.

						Snapshot Interval (effective <i>t</i> )	
Station ID	Site	Camera	Camera	Number of images in	Trigger interval	ТА	RDI
		Make	U	burst $(B_k)$	(Handbook)		
MA1	MUA	BROWN	30	5	5	0.05	0.38
MA2	MUA	BUSH	12	3	3 5		0.45
MA3	MUA	BROWN	5	5	5	0.55	2.75
MA4	MUA	BUSH	7	5	10	0.56	2.76
MA5	MUA	BUSH	7	5	10	0.11	2.71
MA6	MUA	BROWN	6	5	10	0.55	1.75
MA7-1	MUA	BROWN	30	3	5	0.05	0.45
MA7-2	MUA	BUSH	8	5	5	0.10	0.50
MA8-1	MUA	BROWN	17	3	5	0.58	1.78
MA8-2	MUA	BROWN	3	5	5	0.05	0.45
MA9	MUA	BROWN	6	5	5	0.23	0.57
MA10	MUA	BUSH	11	5	5	0.06	0.39
MA11	MUA	BROWN	9	3	5	0.06	0.39
MA12-1	MUA	BROWN	3	3	5	0.06	0.40
MA12-2	MUA	BUSH	12	5	5	0.07	0.41
MA13	MUA	BUSH	1	5	5	0.08	0.41
MA14-1	MUA	BROWN	29	3	5	0.09	0.49
MA14-2	MUA	BUSH	7	3	10	0.57	1.77
MA15-1	MUA	BROWN	10	3	5	0.55	1.75
MA15-2	MUA	BROWN	6	5	10	0.09	0.42
MA16	MUA	BUSH	7	5	10	0.09	0.43
MA17	MUA	BROWN	29	3	5	0.57	1.77
MA18	MUA	BROWN	9	3	5	0.06	2.66
MA19-1	MUA	BUSH	2	3	5	0.54	2.74
MA19-2	MUA	BROWN	5	5	5	0.10	0.50
MA20-1	MUA	BROWN	4	3	5	0.23	0.63
MA20-2	MUA	BROWN	6	5	5	0.57	1.77
MA21	MUA	BUSH	8	5	5	0.33	0.73
MA22	MUA	BROWN	29	5	5	0.11	0.51
MA23	MUA	BROWN	5	5	5	0.15	0.49
MA24	MUA	BROWN	9	3	5	0.15	0.55
SH16	SGR	BROWN	9	3	5	0.54	1.74
SH17	SGR	BUSH	13	5	5	0.16	0.56
SH18	SGR	BROWN	3	5	5	0.30	2.30
SH19	SGR	BUSH	2	5	5	0.56	1.76
SH20	SGR	BUSH	2	3	5	0.31	3.98
SH21	SGR	BROWN	17	5	5	0.31	2.31
SH22	SGR	BUSH	2	5	5	0.31	2.31
SH23	SGR	BROWN	17	5	5	0.32	2.32

# Appendix S2. Variable Settings and Effective *t* at Camera Stations

SH24	SGR	BUSH	11	5	5	0.06	0.46
SH25	SGR	BUSH	13	5	5	0.56	1.76
SH26	SGR	BUSH	11	5	5	0.26	1.46
SH27	SGR	BUSH	2	5	10	0.56	1.76
SH30-1	SGR	BUSH	7	5	10	0.54	2.74
SH30-2	SGR	BROWN	4	5	5	0.53	2.73
SH31	SGR	BROWN	17	5	10	0.30	0.70
SH32	SGR	BROWN	10	5	5	0.29	2.89
SH33	SGR	BROWN	29	5	5	1.58	1.98
SH35	SGR	BROWN	18	5	5	0.05	0.45
SH36	SGR	BUSH	1	5	5	0.29	0.69
SH37	SGR	BUSH	8	5	5	0.56	1.76
SH38	SGR	BROWN	3	5	5	0.56	1.76
SH39	SGR	BROWN	10	5	5	0.07	0.47
SH40	SGR	BROWN	4	5	5	1.66	2.06
SH41-1	SGR	BUSH	12	5	5	0.18	0.58
SH41-2	SGR	BROWN	17	5	5	0.55	1.75
SH42	SGR	BROWN	6	5	10	0.11	0.51
SH43	SGR	BROWN	10	5	5	0.06	2.66
SH44	SGR	BROWN	18	5	5	1.60	2.00
SH45-1	SGR	BROWN	30	5	10	0.08	0.48
SH45-2	SGR	BROWN	30	5	5	0.09	2.69
SH46	SGR	BROWN	4	5	5	0.10	0.50
SH47	SGR	BROWN	4	5	5	0.11	0.51
SH48	SGR	BUSH	13	5	5	0.07	0.47
SH49	SGR	BUSH	12	5	5	0.54	1.74
SH50	SGR	BUSH	11	5	5	0.57	1.77
SH51	SGR	BROWN	10	5	10	0.55	1.75
SH52	SGR	BUSH	11	5	5	1.65	4.25
SH53	SGR	BROWN	10	5	5	0.53	1.73
SH54	SGR	BROWN	3	5	10	1.60	2.00
SH62	SGR	BROWN	17	5	5	0.13	2.73
SH63	SGR	BROWN	30	5	5	0.13	0.53
SH64	SGR	BUSH	1	5	5	0.28	0.68
SH65-1	SGR	BUSH	13	5	5	0.56	1.76
SH65-2	SGR	BROWN	10	5	5	0.54	1.74
SH66	SGR	BUSH	12	5	5	1.66	2.06
SH67	SGR	BUSH	8	5	10	0.54	1.74
SH79	SGR	BUSH	1	5	10	0.54	2.74
SH8	SGR	BROWN	5	5	5	0.54	2.74
SH80	SGR	BUSH	1	5	10	0.29	0.69
SH81	SGR	BUSH	12	3	5	0.56	2.76
SH82	SGR	BUSH	8	5	10	0.54	2.74

BUSH = Bushnell Single Core 119938C; BROWN = Browning Recon Force Extreme BTC-7FHD-PX Snapshot Interval: TA = Trigger Adjusted Effort, RDI = Recovery Driven Interval. Repeated surveys are indicated by '-#'.



## Appendix S3. Encounter Rates of Sampling Locations

**Figure S3**. Number of images obtained of target species at each camera trap location. Increasing circle diameter reflects increasing number of images captured at that camera trap site. Captures from resampled locations are combined. Camera trap locations with < 1 detections are indicated by a black dot. Properties include commercial lodges and private residences.

### Appendix S4. Activity Overlap



**Figure S4.** Activity overlap between lion and black-backed jackal on Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR) demonstrates crepuscular activity patterns of lion and prolonged diurnal activity of black-backed jackal, suggesting a degree of temporal partitioning. Overlap coefficient ( $\Delta$ ) = 0.62.



## Appendix S5. Detection Probability and Probability Density Functions

**Figure S5.** Histograms of detection probability (top) and probability density function of observed radial distances (bottom) for captures of black-backed jackal on MUA (left) and SGR (middle) and for brown hyaena on SGR (right). Red dot indicates effective detection radius.

Appendix S6. Density estimates derived from site-specific versus setting-mean snapshot intervals (effective t)

Species Site Snapshot method	Spanshot	Site Sp	ecific t	Setting Mean t		
	method	$\widehat{D}$	CV	D	CV	
		/ 100 km <sup>2</sup>		/ 100 km <sup>2</sup>		
BBJ	MUA	ТА	16.60	1566.797	20.20	919.808
BBJ	SGR	TA	15.64	376.439	16.78	444.952
BBJ	MUA	RDI	96.51	489.836	97.80	389.775
BBJ	SGR	RDI	86.32	360.796	74.30	295.246
BH	SGR	RDI	65.33	115.271	56.48	73.161
BH	SGR	ТА	11.77	171.56	9.42	76.404

Density estimates  $(\hat{D})$  of black-backed jackal (BBJ) and brown hyaena (BH) within Shamwari Private Game Reserve (SGR) and a mixed used agricultural area (MUA). Snapshot method refers to the method used to calculate snapshot intervals (TA = Trigger Adjusted Effort or RDI = Recovery Driven Interval) subsequently incorporated into effort calculations (See Section 2.4.2). Site Specific *t* refers to snapshot intervals calculated using mean burst time of each specific sampling occasion. Setting Mean t refers to snapshot intervals calculated from mean burst time of all camera traps programmed with the same programmed settings (e.g. number of images in a burst, trigger intervals). cv = percentage coefficient of variation based on 1000 bootstrap repetitions.